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Leadership and Decision-Making Reports  
 
Leading during a pandemic is no easy task. St Catherine’s is blessed to have wise, collaborative, 
honest and thoughtful leaders on Parish Council 2020.  
 
During the Vestry Meeting in February 2020, the Parish Council was given the mandate to 
restructure, diversify leadership and streamline communication. We did not allow the 
pandemic to divert this focus and in May 2020 Rev. Tasha Carruthers from the Diocese of New 
Westminster facilitated a Zoom leadership retreat.  
 
September 2020 Parish Council Members stepped into their new roles.  
 

 Worship/Liturgical Advisory  Committee 
– Robb Watt 

 Stewardship – Chris Wensley 
 Pastoral Care – Rev Sharon Smith  
 Sacred Spaces (Building and Grounds) – 

Gordon Lee and Bruce Davidson  
 Spiritual Development – Linda Robertson 
 Outreach - Bob Paxton and Heather 

Peacock 
 Community connection - Mermi Vouse 

and Sharon Fedorak  
 
Each section of this Vestry Report is overseen by a Parish Council Member.  
Sincere gratitude for the hard work of this team of dedicated leaders! 
 

Vicar’s report 
Rev Sharon Smith 

The year of 2020 and into 2021 is a challenging time. I have seen it take its toll on many - 
emotionally, relationally with much grief, despair, frustration, and so much longing and 
loneliness. Pastoral Care has been more important than ever via phone, FaceTime, Zoom, 
Skype, and walking outside. I am so grateful to each one of you who offered your care and your 
time to the wellbeing of others. Thank you.  
 
I am also aware that this year has been an awakening into the present moment. Without the 
ability and resources to continue ‘church as usual’, it required us to adapt, to embrace change, 
to focus on what is in front of us. With bigger issues at stake, our health and the wellbeing of 
our neighbours, it has given us a fresh pair of glasses to see things for what they are.  
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This has meant living and serving day by day and being 
able to turn on a dime as new Health Officer Orders 
were issued. In-person, Zoom, livestream, and parking 
lot worship became creative solutions to sustaining 
our communal prayer life. In addition I paid particular 
attention to the communities’ need for 
communication, website postings, newsletters and 
weekly pastoral messages. I was so grateful to the 
Wellbeing and Connection Subcommittee of Parish 
Council for their work, wisdom and creativity.   
 

Through it all, we have enlarged our presence in the neighborhood. Singing and praying around 
the walls of AMICA, inviting neighbours to place flowers on the Easter Cross, message boards 
against racism, Thanksgiving Gift Cards to neighbours in need, Christmas Eve invitational flyers 
(7000), the ‘Glory’ garden and a Christmas Tree at the Dundarave Festival of Lights.   
  

On September 3rd, Mermi, Linda, Pip and I participated in 
the Electoral Synod remotely. The Very Reverend John 
Stephens, will be consecrated and installed as our new 
Diocesan Bishop at the end of February 2021. Please hold 
him in your prayers as he helps us navigate a challenging 
future.  
 

As we turn the page into 2021, Parish Council have gained 
a greater focus and resoluteness in order to face a future 
with limited resources. Once again we are being invited to 

be in the present, to do only that which we are able to do, and to make some difficult decisions 
for the future. Parish Council have formed an Ad Hoc Committee to address the Budget Deficit. 
This group of dedicated people continue to meet in order to discuss the sustainability of St 
Catherine’s. And will be presenting their work at Vestry 2020.  
 

I am reminded over and over by Jesus’ wisdom that being present is being in Presence. This is 
our moment to align ourselves with what really matters. This is our moment to be Christ’s light 
and love. I, like you, am feeling tired. I have given more this year than I thought that I had 
capacity to give. I have walked through each day on my knees.  
 

And we find ourselves, though not physically at the Altar, nevertheless with hands open saying: 
‘Holy One, give us this day our daily bread.' Matthew 6:11 
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Vicar’s Warden Report  
Robb Watt 

It is startling to realize that it will soon be a 
whole year since the pandemic changed our 
lives in virtually every way. I struggle to recall 
now the familiar experience of coming to St 
Catherine’s on a Sunday, for in person worship, 
with sitting close to familiar faces, with no 
worry about social distance, with no mask, with 
singing and with Eucharist in both kinds. Covid 
19 has transformed our whole experience of 
church and of course dramatically limited what 
elements of our familiar tasks we could do. So 

for much of 2020 I was not worshipping in the sanctuary, not playing a role as an intercessor, 
nor as a Eucharistic administrator. These volunteer activities which I treasure, have been very 
limited and much less frequent. The corporate life of St Catherine’s has continued and I have 
played a regular part in that, attending A & F meetings, chairing Parish Council meetings, 
meetings which were in person, when permitted, and then by Zoom, when restrictions were set 
out or renewed in various parts of the year. I attended the Zoom Parish Council retreat in May. 
Signing cheques was a regular, generally weekly, requirement.  
 
In addition to these ongoing duties I had several files or ministries as follows: 
 
1. Long term renters: Covid 19 had an immediate, dramatic and ongoing impact on the 

programs offered by and operated by our long term renters. These including our 
preschool, the after school care program, the Lights Up Theatre program,  badminton, 
Special Olympics, North Shore Disability, judo and karate and the music program for 
young people. With the exception of our preschool , and after school care, and a limited 
offering of Lights up Theatre in August, most of our renters ceased operations in March, 
had a brief re start in June, then a long pause until September then with renewed 
restrictions, as of late September, only the Preschool and after school care, and judo, 
operated. Keeping abreast of the latest instructions form Provincial Health and from the 
Diocese, involved quite a bit of phoning and emailing, especially in March and April and 
again in June, and again in September and liaising with the Church administrator and 
treasurer. I share the hope of Rev. Sharon, A & F, and Parish Council, that the 
combination of widespread vaccination in our area, and a return to a more familiar, and 
more in person life, may mean that we will see many of our long term renters return not 
later than the first of September 2021.  

2. Liturgical Advisory Committee: I chaired this ministry stream throughout the past year. 
A detailed report is found elsewhere in these vestry reports. 
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3. Buildings and Grounds:  
Keys.  In order to meet a requirement of our insurers the building was rekeyed during April and 
May, based on discussions with Natasha and others, and soliciting a quote from Silverline 
Locksmiths of North Vancouver. During the rekeying I was on site for parts of several days. After 
the work was completed, I worked with Natasha to create a key register and institute a new key 
protocol to implement a system of heightened individual responsibility for keys issued, and to 
limit the number of keys in circulation.  This project resulted in a much improved control over 
keys and heightened security. 
 

Alarm System. I was able to help Gordon Lee in his work with Erica Wolowidnyk, our Certified 
Expert professional, in September and October, on the final stages of installation and testing of 
the new alarm system. Between them, Gordon and Erica finally achieved inspection sign off 
from the officials of the Fire Department and the Buildings Department of the District of North 
Vancouver. 
Order of the Diocese of New Westminster. I handled the details of the nomination of Tony 
Dodd as St Catherine’s nominee, meeting with Tony , preparing his bio, ensuring that the 
nomination was entered with the Diocese, planning for his investiture.  
 
2020 was a very challenging year, and I want to thank Reverend Sharon, my fellow wardens our 
treasurer, and the members of Parish Council for all their creative work in steering the St 
Catherine’s ship toward what we all hope will be calmer more congenial waters in the second, 
third and fourth quarters of 2021. 
 

People’s Warden  
Gordon Lee 

2020 was the last of my 3 years as People’s Warden and it’s been one filled with a lot of work 
and much change. Here are the endeavours that have occupied me. 

 Property Development – The Property Development Working Group proposed at Vestry 
that this initiative be put on the ‘back burner’ until St. Catherine’s creates and 
implements a successful plan for ministry that establishes a clear future for the parish – 
a plan that results in the growth of parish numbers and changes to its demographic 
profile. This proposal was approved by Vestry and the Property Development Working 
Group was disbanded. Some minor work on property development continues including 
a site visit to Oakridge Lutheran Church and participation in a Diocesan workshop about 
how Oakridge developed its property to incorporate affordable housing. Chris Wensley 
and I attended this event and will be engaged in a series of VanCity workshops this 
February and March about re-developing church property with an affordable housing 
component. 

• Installation of a Fire Alarm System (See Report of Building Safety and Fire Alarm). On 
average this project took 10 hours a week over a 9-month period. 
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• Moving the Ridgewood Gate 
to eliminate through-traffic 
from Ridgewood Drive to 
Wellington Crescent. 

• Working with Kim Mead and 
Steve Jackson to care for the 
Memorial Garden lawn and to 
re-establish the grass adjacent 
to Ridgewood Dr. 

• Implementing 
recommendations made in a 
Risk Management Report 
submitted by our insurance company. 

• Developing and implementing a revised organizational structure for Parish Council that 
  incorporates ministry streams led by members. 

• Undertaking research to improve the sound in the church. Recent discussions with the 
relatives of a deceased parishioner will lead to changes in 2021. 

• Researching livestreaming options for St. Catherine’s, and then implementing a plan 
with Susana Valente, Armin and Rev. Sharon for livestreaming services during the Covid-
19 pandemic. We may very well continue to livestream services when in-person worship 
is again permitted. 

• Working on an ongoing basis with the Vicar, the other Wardens and the Treasurer. 

As this is my final year as People’s Warden, I wish to thank all those with whom I have worked 
for their contributions to St. Catherine’s. I very much enjoyed working with you all.  

I shall continue to be involved with Buildings and Grounds after I leave Parish Council and as we 
build St. Catherine’s ministry for the future, I shall continue to support our Parish. 

 

Associate Warden 
Heather Peacock 

This is not the climate I would have predicted that 
I would be stepping down in but here we are.   It 
has been an interesting last year starting with the 
Long Long Night of Hope in our own parking lot 
which was one of the last in-person activities at 
the church.   
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Dealing with Covid and keeping in contact was challenging but after Rev. Sharon and I came up 
with the Area Care groups and assigned leaders St Catherine’s rose to the occasion and as a 
result connected with some parishioners who are involved, attend church and some who have 
not had contact for a number of years but stay on our roll.  We thought outside the box!   
 
The Sanctuary course was a new experience for us being completely online but was very well 
received and much enjoyed.  It continued into the fall and mental health remains a priority. The 
fall brought more online services and activities, all of which were thoroughly enjoyable.  
Stewardship took on new meaning going online and Kudos to everyone who returned their 
pledges and all who continue to support the wonderful ministry that is St. Catherine’s.   
 
As our church year winds down and my term as Associate Warden ends I want to thank all 
parishioners for their support and kind words.  It has been a pleasure working with a 
phenomenal team of Robb, Sharon, Bruce and Gordon on A & F and to all who have been 
instrumental on Parish Council over the last 3 years, thank you for your support.   I look forward 
to “watching” how we grow over the next year and hopefully before 2021 is over we will be 
able to get back to worshipping together. 
 
 
Parish Administrator  
Natasha Stegemann 
 
Coordinating Sunday Services During the Pandemic 
 
When the pandemic arrived in March of 2020,  the office 
was busier than ever.  I worked both remotely and in the 
office, working to capacity (and more during peak times) 
over five days a week. 
 
This report does not include all of the ongoing tasks such as 
preparing the Friday email, monthly Parish Council 
packages, annual Vestry reports, recording registrations for 
educational programs, answering phone and email 
enquiries etc.  It highlights those tasks that were in 
response to the pandemic changes and other major 
projects that occurred in 2020. 
 
Moving the service and other meetings and events online and finding volunteers to replace 
those who were now not able to attend due to Covid 19, required many emails and phone calls 
back and forth to explain how or where to be and at what time to record their part of the 
service.  We had to schedule separate recording times when we were pre-recording the 
services before moving to live-streaming. And coaching people on how to access Zoom, 
particularly at the beginning of the pandemic. 
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The Sunday service rota had to be completely redone to see who could replace those who could 
not attend due to COVID. This also required ongoing coordination.  Emails were sent out weekly 
to Sunday service participants and a new group of Marshals (ushers/greeters/keepers of order) 
was created to keep parishioners safe.  
  
A PowerPoint bulletin was implemented instead of the printed copies. 
 
 A number of parking lot services were organized. 
  
Other pandemic related activities: 
 
Spreadsheets of area care leaders were created in order to touch base with parishioners. 
  
A pandemic file folder on the office computer was created.  All notices still in automatic format 
were updated weekly and parishioners were advised on everything from how to keep safe 
during the pandemic to special notices on changes to services and other meetings. 
  
The zoom coffee hour was implemented with notices.  Zoom events were set up for special 
occasions.   
 
In-person Sunday services: 
 
Once Dr. Henry’s orders loosened and we could have in-person services for a maximum of 26 
bubbles or 40 people in attendance, the bulletin was revamped and produced weekly including 
extra-large copies for parishioners who request this.  
 
Google forms were implemented and spreadsheets were made to track people’s attendance 
data. There are files in the office detailing who was in the building on the day of any service and 
available for viewing. Everyone in attendance were required to answer the Covid questions and 
record their name and telephone number for contact tracing.  
 
There were numerous phone calls and emails to answer with respect to registering people to 
attend the service so that we did not go above the 26 bubble/40 person attendees and answer 
questions around the service and its protocols. 
 
Volunteers such as Elizabeth Barratt and Elaine Van Horne came in to fold bulletins and help the 
office on Fridays which was much needed. Thank you to them for their willing assistance! 
  
Other events: 
 
The inventory project led by Sara and Armin was finished in the summer complete with photos. 
The files were organized to record all church equipment, supplies and other property stored 
within our large building.  
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The major events requiring organizing with bulletins, marshals, readers and numerous emails 
and phone calls included: 
  

 Ash Wednesday 
 All Souls (4 small services with maximum of 10 people around the memorial garden) 
 A wedding   
 Various outside memorials 

 
Major Mail-Outs: 
 

Major mail outs were sent for Easter, Thanksgiving, the 
November pledge cards, Christmas card and letter. For 
example, we organized and mailed 7000 invitations for 
the Christmas livestream service to North Vancouver 
residents.  This entailed 4 hours of printing and then 10 
hours of folding. Fortunately, I was helped by Daela 
Dazell, Armin, Mermi, Melanie Hackett, Elizabeth 
Barratt and Elaine Van Horne.  I am grateful for their 
assistance.  
  
Rentals 
 

Despite the majority of rentals stopping due to Dr 
Henry’s orders, some rentals continued with safety 
precautions in place.  The rental contracts needed to be 
updated with a required safety plan to be reviewed and 
filed in the office.  
  
Church and Rectory Maintenance Issues: 
 

All the church keys were changed to comply with the 
new fire alarm and security system.  This required 
setting up a system to record who had which key with 
signatures and dates. The keys were organized in a 
locked closet. 
 
The Canada Summer Student program went ahead with 
many emails back and forth with the committee; 
interviews were set up; the committee met with the 
prospective people with Covid guidelines in place.  Keys 
and time sheets were provided for the students. End of program reports were then submitted. 
  
The tenants in the church rectory raised various issues throughout the year. 
The snow removal company was contacted to be used last year.   

Thank you volunteer parishioners 
 

We are very grateful to those 
parishioners who have 
volunteered to help with some of 
the more time -consuming 
administrative tasks.   Armin, Sara, 
Daela, Mermi, Elizabeth and Elaine 
were very helpful especially with 
the very large mail-outs at 
Thanksgiving, November pledge 
time and Christmas.  
 
The loss of many of our volunteer 
receptionists who could not come 
into the building due to COVID and 
who assisted with many 
administrative tasks was keenly 
felt.  A table has been set up in the 
narthex away from the parking lot 
entrance lobby where volunteers 
can work safely in isolation.  We 
hope that more parishioners will 
feel comfortable to help with our 
office administration this coming 
year.   
 
If you are willing to help on a 
project basis, please let us know.  
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Vestry Minutes 2019 
Natasha Stegemann (Vestry Secretary 2019)  

St. Catherine’s Anglican Church Annual Vestry Meeting Minutes 

Sunday February 23, 2020 

(Minutes by Natasha Stegemann, Vestry Secretary 2019) 

The Annual Vestry was held in Gower Hall in St. Catherine’s Church after a combined 8:00 am 
and 10:00 am service that was held at 9:30 am. The 53 people in attendance constituted a 
quorum.  

1. Opening Prayer 

The Rev Sharon Smith opened at 11:48 am with prayer. Rev Smith also chaired the meeting.  In 
her opening remarks Sharon thanked everyone present and invited Heather Peacock to light 
the Christ candle as a reminder that we are not alone. 

2. Memorials  

Tom Alexander Hodges, Tampion Arthur London, Alice Josephine Broadley, Doreen Margaret 
Poole, Bonnie Loughheed, John Cedric Hadrill 

The memorial was read by Sharon, who followed this was with a recitation of the prayer of 
commendation.  

3. Welcome of New Members 

Hugh and Anne, Deborah, Kim, Mermi, Jacqui and John, Sally, Maureen, Jean, Lois, Sara and 
Armin, Paul and Melanie, Cora. 

Gathered members recited a liturgy with new members responding. A welcoming applause 
greeting the new members as they returned to their seats.  

4. Regrets, New Business & Approval of Agenda 

Regrets: Gillian Holland, Dora Harvey  

Changes to the Agenda: 2017 minutes to 2018; 2018 financials to 2019; Add in Memorialize St 
Richard’s and Vestry Guidelines.  

Approval of Vestry Meeting Agenda  

M/S Heather Luccock and Evan Jennings  

Motion Approved  

Carried  
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New Business: 

5. Memorialize St Richards:  

A celebration of the 10th Anniversary of St. Richards parishioners joining us. A letter was read 
by Gordon Lee  (contributed by Dora Harvey) . We remembered the parishioners who joined us 
at that time: Sheila Baldock, Marjorie Garrett, Tom and Doreen Hodges, Irene Huguet, Shriley 
Miller, Ethel Paul, and Rose Smith.  

6. Vestry Guidelines:  

Rev. Sharon went over the guidelines for the meeting, using Norms developed for Parish 
Council 2017 to date: Turn off cell phones, one person to speak, we come prepared to listen, 
refrain from interrupting, self-monitor, respect other – assume positive intent, use of I 
statements, chair (rev Sharon) monitor speaking order remain on topic, no side conversations, 
refrain from email debate following the meeting.  

7. Minutes of the 2018 Annual Vestry Meeting  

Motion: To approve the minutes of the 2019 Annual Vestry Meeting  

M/S Linda Robertson and Robb Watt 

Call for Amendments or corrections leadership page 13th on package – none heard.  

Carried.  

8. Business Arising from the Minutes 

8.a: Property Development Report:  

Gordon Lee referred to the Vestry report (leadership page 23) – Motion 15b brought forward 
by Gary Stewart and John Luccock regarding Diocesan engagement with Property Development 
at St Catherine’s that was approved at Vestry 2018 (Feb 2019).  

Gordon responded to each item in the motion. Referring to a summary of the work to date 
(leadership page 11) of the Vestry report.  

A Summary of the meeting with Parish Council, St Catherine’s Property Development Working 
Group and Diocesan Representatives on March 27, 2019:  

• St. Catherine’s, as an incorporated parish is responsible for any property development 
initiatives. The Diocese will not appoint and finance the cost of a Special Consultant, 
Project Manager, or recognized company to research key aspects of property 
development. However, the Diocese and the Archbishop must approve sale of property.  

• Approval would be based on: 

• The parish vision for its future ministry; 
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• A realistic explanation of how the project will enhance parish ministry and parish 
development, and parish sustainability; and 

• Support from a large majority of parishioners. 

Other meetings included a meeting with the Diocesan Executive Archdeacon, Diocese Property 
Development Workshop, a District of North Vancouver councillor and mayor.  

We learned:  

• The Diocese is encouraging parishes on the North Shore to develop closer relationships 

• The Diocese has limited funds to assist in redevelopment projects but they would assist 
parishes to develop a plan, connect with experts and identify possible solutions.  

• The Edgemont community has made it clear to Mayor and Council that it is tired of 
development disruptions in Edgemont Village. In the view of the mayor and the 
councillor, Council would probably not support additional development proposals for 
some time in the future. 

• The District, based on approved policy, would be reluctant to consider the approval of 
the sale and rezoning of church land. The mayor stated that losing public use land would 
not be in the interest of the District. 

Gordon Lee, on behalf of the Parish Council and the Property Development Working Group, 
presented the following recommendations:  

• St. Catherine’s will need to develop a plan for parish ministry and parish development 
and discern how a property redevelopment project can support this plan before it will 
be in a position to seek Diocesan approval and support (including financial support). This 
parish development plan should set out how the parish will grow and become self-
sustaining and how the property redevelopment will support parish growth. 

• The conclusion from our property development discussions with the councillor and the 
mayor suggest that DNV will not support a St. Catherine’s property development 
proposal in the short of medium-term (for the next 5 years). 

• Suggestion to go again and talk to other parishes in North Vancouver and see if ways to 
share space in the future. It is better for wardens to this. Not a priest. 

The members of the property development group were thanked: Gary Stewart, Chris Wensley, 
John Geha, Janet Benjamin, John Luccock. 

9. Approval of Eucharistic Ministers  

Additional Names for 2020 include: Hugh Crosthwait, Cathy Davidson, Deborah Foster. Rev. 
Sharon offered gratitude to the Eucharistic Ministers of 2019.  
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M/S Gordon Lee and Phil Sunderland 

CARRIED  

10.  Report of Nominating Committee:  

Rev Sharon referred to the Nominating Committee Report in the Vestry Report (Leadership 
page 12-3). 

With Robert (Bob) Paxton, Linda Robertson Lee and Mermi Vouse as new members.  

11.  Call for Nominations for Parish Council Vacancy:  

There is one member at large vacancy. Rev. Sharon called for nominations from the floor. No 
names were brought forward.  

12. Motion to accept Nominations for 2020:  

Motion brought forward to accept the Nominating Committee’s report as presented, with the 
option of Parish Council electing an additional member as required:  

Vicar’s Warden (appointment): Robert Watt (year 2), Secretary of the Vestry Meeting 
(appointment): Natasha Stegeman, People’s Warden: Gordon Lee (year 3), Associate Warden: 
Heather Peacock (year 3), Treasurer (appointment): Bruce Davidson (year 2), Synod Delegates 
(three required): Philip Stigger (year 2), Linda Roberson Lee (year 1), Mermi Vouse (year 1); 
Alternate Synod Delegates (three required): Chris Wensley (year 4), Robert Paxton (year 1), 
Heather Peacock (year 3) with Youth Synod Delegate and Alternate (vacant); Members at Large: 
Sharon Fedorak (year 3); and a second vacancy.  

M/S: Phil Sunderland and John Luccock 

CARRIED  

13. Receipt and Discussion of Annual Report: 

• Comment by Linda Robertson says report struck her how much the community have 
done in a year.  

• Rev. Sharon said the community is alive  

M/S:  Susanne Stockdill and Steve Jackson 

CARRIED 

14. New Business  

14.a  In preparation for Ministry Development - There is a motion from parish council for lay 
leaders to introduce portfolios to parish council.  
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Motion: to develop lay leaders by introducing portfolios to the St Catherine’s Parish Council. 
(Vestry Report: leadership page 5) 

M/S Parish Council 

Discussion:  

• Rev Sharon provided clarification that this will not replace the Synod and Alternate 
Delegates but will be in addition to these roles that require tasks every 2nd year.  

Each person will take on a portfolio meaning a ministry stream which can be an oversight role 
engaging other parishioners who are active in this area.  

The Ministry Streams were articulated in 2018 by the Parish Council on Retreat developing a 
‘shell model’ of ministry.  

• Susanne Stockdill requested that the Parish council member overseeing a stream be 
made visible to the community.  

• Rev Sharon responded with the idea of photos in the Foyer and names in the bulletin.  

• Heather Luccock asked: will these people to go to parish council are they considering 
contributions to the – problem is for the communication to get to each other.  

• Rev Sharon clarified that these are positions on Parish Council and that Parish council is 
a public meeting and anyone is welcome.  

• Linda Robertson expressed her appreciation for this new model, to grow leadership in 
the parish and take the pressure off of a 2/3 time Vicar.  And suggested that we would need a 
parish council retreat where we can restructure and see how it can be flowed out 

All in favour – carries  

14.b: Motion to explore the spiritual needs of our neighborhood and how we could uniquely 
meet them.  (Vestry Report: leadership page 5) 

M/S Parish Council 

Rev Sharon provided context from the Parish Council conversation:  

• Innovative services, something that meets the needs of the wider neighborhood. 

• Questions could be asked in Surveys, Focus groups 

• We would ask: Preschool parents, Edgemont neighbours, rental groups, visitors 

• Difficulty may arise of creating two communities outside the parish  
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Discussion:  

• John Luccock: In favour of the idea, Highlands United hired students using the Federal 
Government’s student grants to interview people to find out need and how to address 
them.  

•  Susanne Stockdill: Supportive of the idea, what is the timeline, how will the parish as a 
whole be informed and involved in the process.  

• Rev Sharon appreciate these suggestions and proposed some ways to gather the 
community with the results of the questions to discuss and develop a way forward. 

• Derek Barratt asked about the Nativity scene at City Hall and why it was missing. He 
suggested that there is potential within our community to motivate for and provide 
more public Christian symbols particularly around Christian Holy Days.   

Parish Council agreed to a friendly amendment. 

New Motion: For Parish council to explore the spiritual needs of our neighborhood and to 
report these findings to Vestry in a parish wide meeting to explore how we might uniquely offer 
programs to meet these needs.  

CARRIED  

15. Report of Independent accountants for 2019 

Treasurer, Bruce Davidson reported on external accountants for 2019. 

Rev Sharon offered a prayer of gratitude.  

Bruce commented on the cost of a new copier, an increase in contributions and a memorial 
fund increase (offertory went up 12.5 % and fundraising has increased). 

He noted loss of rental revenue, and parking lot revenue.  

He noted the overlap in administration due to the cost of temp. agency. And the expense of 
repairs and maintenance,  

Motion to accept report as presented 

M/S Alison Watt and Linda Robertson  

Discussion:  

• Susanne Stockdill spoke and said that since 2016 collections are the highest in four 
years. She congratulated the parish.  

Motion CARRIED   

16. Treasurer’s Report – 2020 Budget 
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Bruce noted the deficit budget for 2020: Due to: decrease in pledges, the hall rentals with 
gradual increase negotiation, no parking lot rental, and janitorial staffing change.   

Motion to accept the budget as presented.  

M/S Bruce Davidson and Gordon Lee 

Discussion:  

• Derek Barrett: Is it possible to look into insurance benefits from the fire alarm 
installation.  

• Gordon Lee: Risk assessment report reviewed it – he would look at the impact on the 
insurance rate.   

• Susanne Stockdill: Asked for clarity – what is included in the increase of the youth 
budget –  

• Rev. Sharon clarified – this is the honorarium for Sunday School: Ethan and Daela $25 an 
hour 

• This will come to an end in the Summer 2020 and she is looking at the possibility of a 
theological student to develop the Sunday School.  

• John Luccock also clarified that the Summer Students – we only received grant money 
for one but the budget is covering the expense of two students.  

• John Luccock also inquired about Rectory insurance. Bruce clarified. 

Motion CARRIED 

17. Appointment of Independent Accountants 

Motion for ROLFE BENSON to be appointed as an Independent Accountant for 2020. 

M/S Bruce Davidson and Phil Sunderland  

No discussion  

CARRIED 

16. Appointment of Signing Officers 

Gordon Lee, Heather Peacock, Robb Watt and Bruce Davidson  

Motion any two wardens and treasurer can sign cheques  

M/S Bruce Davidson and Tony Dodd  

Carried  
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17. Motion to appoint Fund Trustees for the Parish initiative fund  

Nominated: John Luccock and Anne Mansfield  

M/S Gordon Lee and Phil Sunderland  

CARRIED 

18. Friends of St Catherine’s Award. 

Heather Peacock announced the award recipient Sandra Falk. 

Sandra Falck is a valued member of the St Catherine’s Community. And we are thanking her 
today for all she has contributed. 

Nancy Sunderland wrote:  Sandra was one of the first, of many members of the Liturgical Arts 
Group that Dorothy Mash started in the early 1990’s.  The group filled the gymnasium with 
tables, humming sewing machines, irons and ironing boards and a large cutting table. She was 
involved in the making of the Creation Panels led by Dorothy.  These panels had not been hung 
for many years as they were in need of repair.  In 2018, Rev. Sharon learned about them and 
wanted to use them, so Sandra beaded the Universe panel and it was hung again.  Sandra 
worked on many of the beautiful hangings in the church that we have enjoyed for so many 
years. 

Natasha Steggeman wrote: What a wonderful honor being bestowed on Sandra today. She has 
been such a faithful volunteer receptionist, stapling bulletins and answering phones, during her 
tenure here at St Catherine’s. In the office, her sunny disposition, and can do attitude has 
enabled me (Natasha) to feel part of this community. In the brief time I have known her, her 
self-effacing humor has kept me laughing during difficult times. I appreciated all her dedication 
and hard work.  

Siiri Rebane wrote: Sandra has been a faithful choir member for more years than I can count.  
Often arriving early to open the room.  She came to Estonia with our choir in 2004 and took on 
the videotaping. She also came along as a chaperone to some youth and children’s choir trips.  

19. Thank yous: Rev Sharon presented Brenda Stenson, Monica MacDonald, Nicole Geha 
and Jessica Wee (Parish Council Members) and Vestry secretary (Natasha Stegemann) 
with flowers and cards to say thank you for their invaluable contribution to St 
Catherine’s as they complete their term. 

20.  Adjournment/Closing Prayer 

Date of next Annual General Vestry Meeting: Sunday February 28th, 2021 
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Nominating Committee Report 2021 
Heather Peacock and Rev Sharon  

The 2021 Nominations’ Committee included the Reverend Sharon Smith (Vicar), Gordon Lee (Peoples 
Warden), Heather Peacock (Associate Warden), Sharon Fedorak (Member at Large) and Chris Wensley 
(Alternate Synod Delegate). 
 
We wish to thank the 2020 Parish Council for their dedication to the people and parish of St. 
Catherine’s. Special thanks to those who are retiring from their roles: Gordon Lee (Peoples Warden), 
Heather Peacock (Associate Warden), Sharon Fedorak (Member at Large) and Chris Wensley (Alternate 
Synod Delegate). 
 
In order to meet Diocesan Canonical requirements, we invited several new members who have put their 
names forward to consider a role on the Parish Council:  
 
Chris Wensley  
Linda Robertson 
Penny Zuk 
Kim Mead 
 
The Diocese requires that all persons must be re-elected or appointed annually.  
 
The committee presented the following:  
 

Diocesan Role Name (Year in role) Ministry Stream 
Vicar’s Warden (appointment):  Robert Watt (year 2) Liturgical Advisory 

Committee 
Secretary of the Vestry Meeting 
(appointment):  

Natasha Steggeman  

People’s Warden:  Linda Robertson (year 1) Spiritual Development 
Associate Warden:  Chris Wensley (year 1) Stewardship 
Treasurer (appointment):  Bruce Davidson (year 2) Sacred Spaces 
   
Synod Delegate (three required): Philip Stigger (year 3)  
Synod Delegate: Linda Robertson (year 2) Spiritual Development 
Synod Delegate: Mermi Vouse (year 2)  Community Connection 
   
Alternate Synod Delegate (three required): Penny Zuk (year 1)  Outreach 
Alternate Synod Delegate: Robert Paxton (year 2)  Outreach 
Alternate Synod Delegate: Kim Mead (year 1) Sacred Spaces 
   
Members at Large (one required):  Vacant  
   
Youth Synod Delegate (one required): (vacant)  Vacant  
Alternate Synod Delegate (one required):  Vacant  
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Pastoral Care Reports  
 
Area Care Leaders  
Rev. Sharon & Heather Peacock 
 
March 24th, 2020, 8 days after the first 
COVID 19 lockdown Associate Warden, 
Heather Peacock, and Rev Sharon Smith 
sat masked and distanced leaning over a 
1:12,500 Street map of the District of 
North Vancouver. We marked the 
address of each friend and parishioner of 
St Catherine’s and created 16 Area 
groups from Lower Lonsdale to 
Grousewoods to Seymour to Lions Bay.  

We are grateful for the following members of St Catherine’s who gave of their time in phone 
calls, writing cards, picking up groceries and/or assisting with technology: 

Rev. Sharon Smith, Sharon Fedorak, Natasha Stegemann , 
Heather Luccock, Phyllis Mittlestead, Pip Stigger, Heather 
Peacock, Tony Dodd, Brenda Stenson, Alison and Robb 
Watt, Chris Wensley, Hugh Crosthwait, Bob Paxton, 
Rhonda Garton, Jackie Smart, Lois McGregor, Bonnie 
Grundy, Linda Robertson, Elaine Van Horne , Shirley 
Stockdill, Mermi Vouse, Cathy Davidson, Diane Stickney 
and Lynne Spence. 

 “I thank my God every time I remember 
you” Philippians 1:3 

Over the next months we determined that the needs changed. Initially groceries, physical 
health and wellness, grief, mental health, employment, finance and providing technology 
assistance were primary concerns. And then as the pandemic became more familiar and human 
resilience rose, we focused on providing support for health, wellness, grief, relationship 
connection, and sharing information. 

Over the next year we will be working out the roles and function of the pastoral care team and 
the area care leaders who wish to continue.  

 

Rev Sharon: “I can still 
remember that first gathering of 
Area Care Leaders on Zoom. We 
had all made contact with our 
groups and were reporting on 
how everyone was doing. My 
heart was full of love and 
gratitude. “This community is 
alive and connected, it is going 
to be ok”, I thought.” 
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Pastoral Care Team  
Tony Dodd 

We had a meeting back in January last year and have divided groups to 
connect with parishioners as we cannot meet at church.  

My group are all doing fine and appreciate a call, but not often. I have also 
connected with those I have connected with before the virus.  

A short report this time but will keep in touch with all. 

 

Care Cards 
Heather Luccock & Cathy Davidson 

Over the last year, there has been several cards sent out to parishioners 
who have been ill and those who have suffered a bereavement. 

7 sympathy cards were sent in addition to 16 cards sent to those who had been ill. 

 

Prayer Circle  
Linda Robertson 

The Prayer Circle was formed at the end of February 2020 just as we entered the pandemic.  It 
seems that the Holy Spirit (with some help from Sharon) gave us a nudge after a year or more 
of talking about this that now would be a good time to start.  

There are eight members of the congregation who pray for immediate and urgent requests for 
a period of one week unless there is a request to pray for a longer period of time.  Requests for 
prayers can be emailed confidentially to Natasha in the office or to Sharon who then passes 
them onto the Prayer Circle.  Requests should be clear about whether this is an urgent one-
week request for the Prayer Circle or is a name to be put on the parish list that goes out every 
Friday.  Requests can be made more than once for the same person and be put in both places.   

The Prayer Circle finds it helpful to know a first name (and if wanting even greater 
confidentiality then just initials) plus something about why the person needs our prayers.  The 
names and issues are kept confidential but it helps to focus our prayers if we know something 
about what the person needs.  

Being part of a Prayer Circle was new to many in the Circle. There is no set way to pray.  We 
pray individually and not in a group. During the first few months of the pandemic, some of the 
members supplied the prayer that appeared daily on the St. Catherine’s website.   
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The Prayer Circle has found this to be a 
very supportive ministry especially during 
the pandemic.  Praying and knowing we 
are not praying alone has created a 
community where we feel we are doing 
something positive to help others through 
their difficulties. It has also strengthened 
us. We have heard from those who have 
requested prayers for themselves or their 

families or friends that just knowing that others are praying for them, makes them feel less 
alone and supported during a difficult time. 

If you would like to join the Prayer Circle or know more about it, please let Sharon or Natasha 
know and someone from the Prayer Circle will call you. 

 
Mental Health Support  
Rev. Sharon, Heather Peacock & Melanie Hackett 

A group of 13 people gathered virtually on Thursday 
nights through April/May 2020 to discuss mental 
health and faith. The Zoom platform proved to be 
helpful for our vulnerable sharing. 

We made use of the Sanctuary content – video and 
group guidelines. Though the Sanctuary theological 
content was a little ‘thin’ for this group, the sharing, 
relational bonding and generating of ideas for 
accompaniment was invaluable.  

The final night we discussed the “what next” question… 

Some thoughts were:  

• Being more intentional about companionship during 
emotional crises and throughout mental health recovery,  

• forming spiritual contemplative practice groups, and 

• connecting to North Shore resources for crisis times. 

We took a next step on October 4th, 2020. In partnership with 
the North Shore Ismaili community, Catholic community, Missionary Alliance Community, 
United Church and Bridge Church we hosted a Zoom event to discuss mental health during 

“Why are you so downcast,  
O my soul, 

And why are you disquieted 
within me? 

Hope in God; For I shall again 
praise God, 

My help and my God” 
 

Psalm 42: 5-6 
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COVID and how Faith Communities have responded to 
needs. Twenty-five people registered and attended the 
event. A further 48 viewed the recorded event on St 
Catherine’s YouTube channel.  

The network of faith communities are eager to connect 
again for another event in February 2021.  

While these are the formal programmed events, it is the 
interconnections and informal networks of caring 
friendships at St Catherine’s that is our primary method 
of accompaniment. Perhaps our capacity for one-on-one 
support is a thread we need to strengthen in 2021. 

 

Grief Support  
Rev Sharon  

Perhaps one of the hardest experiences during COVID 19, is losing someone we love. Not only is 
the dying process more complex but the absence of a memorial, and the social distancing limits 
community support.  
 
As a priest, Rev Sharon was heartbroken to pray with dying loved ones by Skype, WhatsApp, 
FaceTime or Zoom.  And worse still was putting memorials on hold, knowing that families and 

community needed to gather, 
remember and share stories.  
 
As an imperfect first step St 
Catherine’s Wardens, St 
Martin’s Priest in Charge, Rev 
Stephanie Shepard and Rev. 
Sharon put together a Service 
of Memorial that was available 

online on March 23rd 2020, not as a replacement for individual memorials but as a Sacred 
Grace Holder. An invitation to submit names of people loved and lost (from any cause) along 
with a brief tribute, was sent out to all neighboring churches, North Shore News and 
Community Centres.  
 
On that day we remembered and honoured the following people:  
Teresa Denise Pallant, James Russell Anderson, Palle Larsen, Evelyn Mary Bodel , Doris Jean 
Scholes, Anne Elizabeth Jackson, Michael David Burns, Blaine Kennedy, Linda Ann Brett, Don 
Digiacinto, and Doreen Hodges. 

 “I have really questioned, am I 
credible, am I worth listening to? And 

I think you need to recover that in 
relationship, you need someone to 

enable you to experience again that 
you have validity and value. You’re 

not an invalid. You have worth, value, 
validity, credibility. You mean 

something to someone else. I don’t 
think you can discover that except in 

the context of relationship.”  

(Randall, 1999 - A psychiatrist living 
through psychosis) 
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Many thanks to Siiri Rebane and Steve Jackson for providing the recorded music for the service.  
 
In September 2020, a group of 8 St Catherine’s parishioners gathered on Zoom for a facilitated 
conversation on Grief, COVID 19 and Mental Health. We watched a video, shared our 
experience and experienced contemplative practices. The session was facilitated by Rev Sharon 
and Melanie Hackett. 
And on the eve of All Souls Day, 4 small services were held outside around the memorial 
garden. 48 people attended in total, with the final service by candle light. Thanks to Siiri 
Rebane, Joy Wee and Marc Keiser for providing music and for the ushers: Mermi, Sara and 
Armin. Natasha Stegemann’s administration was invaluable in making these events possible.  
 
Rev Sharon presided over outdoor memorials, interments, live-streamed and Zoom services 
while providing support to family and friends. Services were held for: Gayle Jean Biden, Geri 
Clayton, Donald Allan Smith, Alan Donald Widdifield, Donald Ellwood and David Eamonn 
Lambert.  May they rest in peace. 
 

Medical Assistance in Dying  
Rev. Sharon 

The option of medical assistance in dying (MAiD) has been available in Canada since June 2016. 
There are pressing questions. What do faithful Christians most want to learn about MAiD?  

A public, three-part Saturday morning series was provided by the Regional Programming team 
on three Saturday mornings 9-noon in January and February 2020 (prior to the pandemic). 

They addressed three key areas: Theology and Ethics, Moral and Legal Issues and Spiritual and 
Pastoral Care.  

Presenters included: Madam Justice Sheila Tucker, Peter Elliott, Mr. Philip Murray, Andres 
Rebane, Sharon Salomon, Shelley Meglaughlin and Sharon Smith. They were held in the St. 
Agnes Anglican Church hall by donation. Each workshop was well attended with parishioners 
representing all the Anglican and Lutheran Communities on the North Shore.  

For more information on MAiD here are some resources:   

• https://www.dyingwithdignity.ca/ 

• https://camapcanada.ca/ 

• http://www.bccancer.bc.ca/health-info/coping-with-cancer/medical-assistance-in-dying 

Please know that Rev. Sharon is available to discuss any questions with you. 
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Stewardship and Finance Reports 
 

Stewardship Report  
Chris Wensley 

Following the restructuring of Parish Council into “streams” 
in early 2020, this report summarizes our stewardship 
activities at St Catherine’s – our contributions of time, 
talents and treasure to the church. A key challenge this year 
has been coping with the COVID-19 pandemic, which, since 
mid-March 2020 has required us to self-isolate and suspend 
regular church services. I would especially like to recognize 
Rev. Sharon’s energetic and tireless leadership over the last 
year to guide us through this uncertain time. 

Soon after the start of the pandemic in late March, St Catherine’s organized the formation of 
Area Care Groups, comprising about 15 volunteers, to keep in touch with parishioners by 
telephone. The volunteers have kept in regular contact with people in their groups over the last 
9 months, as well as helping out with grocery deliveries, general and mental health concerns 
and pastoral care. Feedback from the community is that the calls were – and continue to be – 
very much appreciated and have allowed us to stay in touch with each other during this difficult 
and lonely time. Special thanks go to Heather Peacock for organizing this effort and Natasha in 
the church office for coordination, as well as the Area Care volunteers. 

Since March, regular church services have been 
suspended due to BC’s provincial health 
regulations. Despite these restrictions, many 
people within the congregation have volunteered 
to assist with alternative opportunities for 
worship. First, we organized interactive, “virtual” 
services on Zoom from March to August, followed 
by limited in-person services between mid-August 
and mid-November, with a return to virtual, live-

streamed Sunday services on YouTube in mid-November. Wednesday services have continued 
on Zoom since March, and we had a series of wonderful online services over Christmas.  

Many of those who normally help with our regular church services, including readers, 
intercessors, ushers, music and choir members, have continued to volunteer their time to make 
our worship possible. Planning and conducting online services has also drawn on the technical 
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skills of volunteers in video and sound recording, and has 
allowed us to continue to worship in the safety and comfort of 
our homes. Our appreciation goes to everyone for adapting to 
these conditions, and especially to Gordon Lee, Susana Valente 
and Armin, to Siiri Rebane for music and to Natasha in the 
church office for coordination. 

We were unable to organize our traditional Thanksgiving 
Dinner in October for the needy in our community. In its place, 
we launched a fundraising appeal “Grateful for Abundance 
Thanksgiving 2020” to assist St Catherine’s to offset shortages 
in funding during the pandemic and to provide grocery 
vouchers to our neighbours in North Vancouver in lieu of the 
annual Thanksgiving Dinner. The appeal, between 20 
September and 11 October 2020, aimed to recognize our good 
fortune despite COVID-19. Thanks to the generosity of the St 
Catherine’s community we were able to raise a total of 
$10,196 in donations out of the initial goal of $16,000. The 
funds received were split 50/50 between the two causes.  On 
8-9 October and 16 November a total of 204 food vouchers of 
$25 were delivered to our neighbours as follows, based on 
their needs: Pathways Mental Illness Society (15); Canadian 
Mental Health Association (14); Seniors Hub (4); Turning Point 
(10); Look Out Centre (57); Neighbourhood House (74); 
Harvest Project (20); and the John Braithwaite Centre (10). The 
agencies supporting our neighbours have expressed their 
appreciation to the St Catherine’s community for our support 
during COVID-19. Thanks to Bob Paxton, Lynn Spence, Vivian 
McGie, Phyllis Mittlestead, Heather Peacock and Bruce 
Davidson for assisting with this appeal. 

In October, Rev. Sharon assembled an ad-hoc group to 
brainstorm stewardship and pledging activities for 2021. 
Through Zoom meetings and email exchanges, we developed 
an outline stewardship calendar for 2021, pledge cards, and a 
narrative budget for the annual pledging appeal between 22 
November and 6 December 2020. A key aim was to increase 
pledges to address a projected income shortfall of about 
$60,000 in 2021. Pledge cards were mailed on 20 November, 
together with a stewardship letter to parishioners from Rev. 
Sharon. As of 13 January, the total amount pledged for 2021 
was $143,588 (compared to $133,500 last year), with pledges 

Time, Talents and Treasure 

Our plans for 2021 

 

January  (Epiphany) — Community 
Participation and Survey 

February (Lent) — Shrove Tuesday, 
Vestry,  Outreach (Homeless shelter, 

Long Long Night of Hope) 

March (Lent/Easter) — World Day of 
Prayer, PWRDF Outreach 

April (Easter) — Easter Week, 
Missions to Seafarers Outreach 

May (Pentecost) — Memorial 
Garden/Church clean-up 

June (Pentecost) — Music Month 

July (Pentecost) — (Summer Break) 

August (Pentecost) — (Summer 
Break) 

September (Pentecost) — Sunday 
School, Planning for Thanksgiving 

October (Pentecost/Thanksgiving) 
— Community Thanksgiving Dinner, 

Planning for 2022 

November (Pentecost) — 
Stewardship Discussions and 

Pledging 

December (Advent) — Christmas, 
Hampers 

 

Throughout the year we plan to support 
the Harvest Project and other local 

groups with food, household items and 
gifts. 
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received from 55 contributors in 2021 (compared to 53 last year). Four additional pledges have 
since been received. Thanks to Pip Stigger, Heather Peacock, Lynn Spence, Linda Robinson, 
Jacqui Smart, Rhonda Garton, Heather Peacock and Bruce Davidson for assisting in the appeal. 
The ad-hoc Stewardship group will continue to meet in 2021 to refine and develop our 2021 
Stewardship calendar as outlined on the left. 

Envelope Secretary Report  
Heather Peacock 

This has been a challenging year.  With the church closed and pledges and donations coming in 
on various days it has been interesting keeping up with the recording of them.  Normally I go in 
once a week to record the Sunday deposit.  This past year I went in sometimes a couple of 
times a week and sometimes every few weeks.  It really depended on whether there were 
deposits!  I was heartened that so many people kept their pledges current and were diligent in 
getting cheques to the church.   
 
In 2020 53 parishioners pledged $133,725.00 with the total received at $129,798.35 and a 
difference of just under $4000.00.  Thank you to all who kept up with their pledges and weekly 
giving.   
Pledges for 2021 are at 55 with a few yet to come in.   
 
As I retire this year I am grateful for the privilege of having been Envelope Secretary for the past 
4 years.  It is time to move on and look at other projects.   
 
Treasurer’s Report – Financials 2020 
Bruce Davidson 

[ROLFE BENSON - Independent Practitioners’ Review Engagement Report follower for the next 8 
pages, followed by the treasurer’s report on variances] 
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INDEI'ENDENT PRACTITIONERS' II,EVTElV ENGAGEMENT REPOITT

'['o thc Parishioncrs,
'l-hc l)arish of St. Cathcrinc's (Capilano):

Wc have rcviovcd thc accornpanying financial statcnlcnts of Thc Parish ol' St. Cathcrine's (Capilano) that
cornprise the statcnrent of flnancial position as at 3 I Dcccrnbcr 2020. and thc slatenlcnts olchangcs in nct asscts.

rcvcuuL-s and expcnscs artd cash florvs lbr tlre ycar tltcn cndcd, and a surnrrary of'significant accountirrg policics
and othcr explanatory information.

Vlanagcmcnt's l{csponsibility for thc Financial Statcnrcnts

Nlanagcmcnl is responsiblc for thc preparation and fair prcsentatiorr ol'tlrcsc financial staternents ilr accordanc:c
rvith C'anadian accoulrting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such intcrnal corrtrol as nlanagcn'lcut
clctcrnrincs is ncccssary to cnable the preparation ol'firtancial staternents that arc lice lrorn material rnisstatcrncllt,
rvhcthcr due to lraud or crror.

l) rl cti tion crs' Ilcsponsi bility

Our rcsponsibility is to e.\prcss a conclusion on the accornpanl,ing firrancial statcnrents based on our rcvicrv. Wc

corrductcd our revierv in accordarrcc rvith Canadian gencrally acceptcd standards lor revierv engagcnrcnts, rvhiclr
rcrluirc us to conrply u'itlt rclevant ethical rcquirctttcnts.

A revicrv ol'lrnancial stal.elllents in accoldancc rvith Canadian gcnclally accepted standards lbr rcviov
cngilgcnlcnts ls a linritcd assurancc cngagelnclll.. '['hc practitioners pcrlornr procedures, prinrarily ct'rrrsisting ol'
rrraking inquiries ol-rnauagcnrcnt and others rvithin tltc cn(ity, as appropriatc, and applying analytical proccclurcs.

and cvaluatcs thc cvidcncc obtained.

'l'lre procc-durcs pcrfbrnrcd in a rcvietv arc substantially lcss in cxtent tltan. and vary in nature liotn, thosc
pcrlbrnred iu an audit conducted in accordancc u,ith Canadian generally acccptcd auditing standards. Accordirrgll".
*'c do not exprcss an audit opinion on tltese frnarrcial staterllents,
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Ilasis for Qualificd Conclusion

lp corlrlon with other organizations of this kind, thc Parish derivcs revenue I'rom specified donations and

parishioners' offerings, the complcteness of rvhich is not susceptible to satislactory revieu' procedures.

Accordingly, our revierv of thesc revcnues rvas limited to arnounts recorded in the records of the Parish and tvc

wcre not iUi. to detennine rvhether any adjustnrents might be neccssary to donation revenues, excess of revcnues

over expenses, assets or llet assets.

Qualified Conclusion

Based on our review, exccpt for thc efl'ects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Conclusion paragraph,

nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the financial statements do not prescnt fairly, in

all rnaterial respects, the llnancial position ofThe Parish oFSt. Catherirte's (Capilano) as at 3l Decetnbcr 2020, and

its revenues and expenses and cash flows fior the year then endcd in accordance with Canadian accottntirtg

standards for not-for-profi t organ izations.
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THE PARISH OF ST. CATHERINE'S (CAPILAI\O)
Statement of Financial Position

31 December 2020
(unaudited)

2020 2019

Assets

Current
Cash
Intemally restricted cash (Note 3)
Accounts receivable
GST receivable
Prepaid expenses

Tangible capital assets (Note 4)
Investment in Diocese Consolidated Trust Fund - Restricted

$ 81,777 $
108,766

7,795
4,032

1s9

99,569
100,547

1,766
t3 725

202,529

225,247
28,911

215,607

205,520
25,489

$ 456.687 S 446.616

Liabilities

Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Uneamed revenue
Deferred contributions - other - Schedule
Deferred contributions - Martha Fund (Note 5)

Long-term debt (Note 6)

Net Assets

Unrestricted - operating
Invested in tangible capital assets

$ 21,136 $

108,766
28,911

32,834
3,170

100,785
25.489

158,813 162,278

40.000 -
198.813 162.278

32,627
225,247

78,818
205,520

257,874 284,338

$ 4s6.687 $ 446.616

People's Warden

APPROVED ON BEHALF OF THE PANSH:

Treasurer

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

4



THE PARISH OF ST. CATHERINE'S (CAPILAI\O)
Statement of Changes in Net Assets

For the Year Ended 31 December 2020

(unaudited)

Unrestricted
- Oneratins

Invested in
Tangible

Canital Assets 2020 2019

Balance - beginning ofyear

Excess (deficiency) ofrevenue over expenses

for the year

Interfund transfers (Note 8)

Balance - end ofvear

$ 78,818 $ 205,520 $ 284,338 $ 285,191

(13,337)

(32.854)

(13,127\ (26,4641 (8s3)

$ 32.6275 22s.2475257.874 $284.338

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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THE PARISH OF ST. CATHERINE'S (CAPILANO)
Statement of Revenues and Expenses

For the Year Ended 31 December 2020
(unaudited)

2020 2019

Revenues
Collections
Donations for facilities use

Deferred contributions - Schedule
Rectory rental
Festival services
Diocesan Grant
Wage subsidy
Sundry receipts

Expenses
Worship

Service supplies
Music

Programs and resources
Deferred contributions - Schedule
Youth Ministry

Administration and finance
Wages and benefits
Repairs and maintenance
Diocesan apportionment (Note l0)
Utilities
Janitorial
Insurance
Stationery, supplies, books and postage

Property taxes
Accounting fees
Telecommunications
Bank charges and interest
Sundry and discretionary
Website and marketing
Amortization of tangible capital assets

Excess (deficiencv) of revenues over exDenses for the

$ 166,697 $

66,365
52,822
36,000
17,829
12,5n6
10,523

8.330

184,627

l 10,869

18,000

36,000
6,947
6,000

16,373

371.072 378,816

6,283
1,452

2,775

1,695

7,735 4,470

52,E22
1,875

18,000

2,677
54,697 20,677

145,952
55,467

35,792
25,833
16,325
15,025

8,547

7,221
6,480

2,772

1,779

s66
218

13,127

144,573
38,618
61,920
27,307
13,5 10

15,454
14,322

7,339
7,842
t,943
1,967

I,550
7,720

10,457

335,104 354,522

397.s36 379.669

$ (26.464) $ (8s3)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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THE PARTSH OF ST. CATHERINE'S (CAPILANO)
Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended 31 December 2020
(unaudited)

2020 2019

Cash provided by (used in)

Operating activities
Excess (deficiency) ofrevenues over expenses for the year

Items not affecting cash

Amortization of tangible capital assets

Changes in non-cash working capital
Accounts receivable
GST receivable
Prepaid expenses

Diocese Consolidated Trust Fund - net

Unearned revenue

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred contributions - other
Deferred contributions - Martha Fund

Investing activity
Proceeds from long-term debt

Purchase of tangible capital assets

lncrease (decrease) in cash

Cash - beginning of year

$ (26,464) $

13,127

(7,795)
(2,266)
13,566
(3,422)
(3,170)

(1 1,698)

7,981
3,422

(853)

10,457

50
(763)
481

(3,467)
3,170

t1,493
28,406

3.467

(16,719) 52,441

fl s.360)
40,000

(32.854)

(9,s73)

200.116

37,081

r 63.035

Cash - end ofyear $ 190.s43 $ 200.1 16

Cash is composed of:
Cash
Internally restricted cash

$ $81,777
r08.766

99,569
r 00-s47

$1 90-s43 $ 200.1 l6

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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THE PARISH OF ST. CATHERINE'S (CAPILANO)
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 31 December 2020
(unaudited)

1. Purpose of the Organization

The Parish of St. Catherine's (Capilano) (the "Parish") is an organization offering a place of worship and
operating programs aimed at helping families and communities in need of support and counselling. The
Parish was incorporated 18 August 1952, (Certificate #67084) pursuant to Section 7 , Chapter 45 of the
British Columbia Statute "The Anglican Synod of the Diocese of New Westminster, 12 April 1893" as

amended. The Parish is a registered charity within the definitions of the Income Tax Act and therefore
is exempt from income taxes and may issue charitable donation receipts.

The Parish holds beneficial interest in, and the legal title to, its assets. However, if the Parish were to sell
any of its property, the resulting proceeds would be retained and held-in-trust by the Diocese of New
Westminster. Use of the funds would be controlled by the Diocese of New Westminster.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit
organizations. The significant policies are detailed as follows:

(a) Financial Instruments

Measurement of Financial Instruments

The Parish initially measures its financial assets and liabilities at fair value and subsequently
measures all of its financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized cost, except for
investments in equity instruments that are quoted in an active market, which are measured
at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized in the statement of revenues and
expenses.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost include cash, intemally restricted cash, accounts
receivable and GST receivable.

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost include accounts payable and accrued
liabilities and long-term debt.

The Parish's financial assets measured at fair value include investment in Diocese
Consolidated Trust Fund.

ll. Impairment

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are tested for impairment when there are
indicators of impairment. The amount of the write-down is recognized in the statement of
revenues and expenses. The previously recognized impairment loss may be reversed to the
extent of the improvement, directly or by adjusting the allowance account, provided it is no
greater than the amount that would have been reported at the date of the reversal had the
impairment not been recognized previously. The amount of the reversal is recognized in the
statement of revenues and expenses.
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THE PARISH OF ST. CATHERINE'S (CAPILANO)
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 31 December 2020
(unaudited)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued

(a) Financial Instruments - continued

iii. Transaction Costs

The Parish recognizes its transaction costs in the statement of revenues and expenses in the

period incurred. However, financial instruments that will not be subsequently measured at

fair value are adjusted by the transaction costs that are directly attributable to their
origination, issuance or assumption.

(b) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-

for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the

reported amount ofassets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and disclosure ofcontingencies at

the date of the statement of financial position. Accounts subject to significant estimates include

amortization on tangible capital assets, accrued liabilities and recognition of deferred revenues and

contributions. Management believes that the estimates utilized in preparing the financial
statements are prudent and reasonable; however, actual results could differ from those estimates.

(c) Revenue Recognition

The Parish follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Restricted contributions
are recognized as revenue in the year in which the related expenses are incurred.

Unrestricted collections, bequests, donations, festival services funding, government assistance and

sundry receipts are recognized as revenue in the period the funds are received. Rectory rentals and

investment income are recognized as revenue in the period earned when collection is reasonably

assured.

(d) Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost and are amortized on a straight-line basis over their

estimated useful lives as follows:

Church and chapel
Hall
Rectory
Piano
Computer
Furniture and equipment
Alarm
Photocopier

40 years
40 years

40 years
10 years

5 years
l0 years
10 years
6 years

9



THE PARISH OF ST. CATHERINE'S (CAPILANO)
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 31 December 2020
(unaudited)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued

(d) Tangible Capital Assets - continued

The carrying amount of tangible capital assets is written down to its residual value when a
particular item no longer has any long-term service potential to the Parish. In that event, the
amount by which the carrying value exceeds the residual value is charged to the statement of
revenues and expenses.

(e) Accounting for Controlled Entity

The Parish is considered to control the St. Catherine's Child Care Society (the "Society") by virtue
of its ability to elect a majority of directors to the Board of the Society. Both the Parish and the
Society have several directors in common. The Parish has no amounts invested with the Society,
and does not consolidate or otherwise include the Society accounts in these financial statements.
Condensed financial statements of the Society is provided in Note 10.

(0 Pension Plan

The Parish and its employees contribute to a defined contribution multi-employer pension plan
(the "Plan") administered by the Pension Office Corporation of the Anglican Church of Canada.
The Plan provides pension based on length of service, and final average earnings. As the assets
and liabilities of the Plan are not segregated by member, the Plan is accounted for as a defined
contribution plan and any contributions of the Parish to the Plan are expensed as incurred.

(g) Contributed Services

The mission of the Parish is dependent upon, and thankful for, the many hours contributed by
volunteers. Due to the difficulty of determining their fair value, contributed services are not
recognized in the financial statements.

3. lnternally Restricted Cash

The intemally restricted cash represents amounts segregated by management and held in a separate bank
account, which have been received for the various outreach programs as listed in the Schedule of Deferred
Contributions.
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THE PARTSH OF ST. CATHERTNE'S (CAPILANO)
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 31 December 2020
(unaudited)

4. Tangible Capital Assets

Land - church
Church and chapel

Hall
Rectory
Piano
Computer
Fumiture and equipment
Alarm
Photocopier

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book Value
2020 2019

$ 5,400

217,935
92,739
64,539
3,492
3,128

136,912
37,521

J'358
s ss9.013

$ -$
115,690

45,505
29,716
2,439
2,973

133,728
1,876
1,940

s 333.766 $

5,400 $

102,245
37,234
34,822

1,044
155

3,184
35,95
5,518

5,400
107,694
39,302
36,435

1,393
43

3,594
4,914
6,745

205-52022s-247 S

5. Deferred Contributions - Nlartha Fund

The purpose of the Martha Fund is to assist in the support of mothers who have been left as the main

support for her children. Disbursements from the Martha Fund can be made from income only, unless

approved by the Parish council. The amount of deferred contributions in the Martha Fund represents the

unexpended balance.

2020 2079

Opening balance

Adjustment to market value

$ 25,489 $ 22,022

6. Long-Term Debt

During the year, the Parish received a $40,000 (2019 - $Nil) non-interest bearing loan from the

Government of Canada in response to the COVID-l9 pandemic. If the loan is repaid on or before 31

December 2022 up to $ 10,000 of the loan can be forgiven. If the loan is not repaid by that date, the loan

can be converted to a three year term at an interest rate of 5%.

Bank Overdraft

The Parish has arranged a bank overdraft facility to a limit of $50,000, which is secured by a collateral
morlgage on the church rectory. This facility is not used at 3l December 2020.

3,422
$ 28,911 $

3,467
25,489

7.
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THE PARISH OF ST. CATHERINE'S (CAPILANO)
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 31 December 2020
(unaudited)

8. Interfund Transfers

During the year, $32,854 (2019 - $ I 5,360) was transferred from the Unrestricted - Operating Fund to the
Invested in Tangible Capital Assets Fund for the purchase of improvements to the Church and rectory and
other equipment.

9. Financial Instruments

The Parish is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments. The following analysis provides
a measure of the Parish's risk exposure and concentrations at the statement of financial position date,
3l December 2020.

(a) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated
with financial liabilities. The Parish is exposed to this risk mainly in respect of its accounts
payable and accrued liabilities and long-term debt. The Parish manages liquidity risk by
maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents. There has been no change to the risk exposure
from the prior year.

(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other
party by failing to discharge an obligation. The Parish's main credit risks relate to its cash and
accounts receivable. There has been no change to the risk exposure from the prior year.

(c) Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. The Parish is mainly exposed to interest rate risk and
other price risk.

(d) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Parish is exposed to interest rate risk on
its fixed and floating interest rate financial instruments. Fixed-rate instruments subject the Parish
to a fair value risk while the floating-rate instruments subject it to a cash flow risk. The Parish's
interest-bearing assets included Investment in Diocese Consolidated Trust Fund. There has been
no change to the risk exposure from the prior year.
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THE PARISH OF ST. CATHERINE'S (CAPILANO)
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 31 December 2020
(unaudited)

9. Financial Instruments - continued

(e) Other price risk

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or

currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial
instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.

The Parish is exposed to other price risk through its investment in Diocese consolidated trust fund.
There has been no change to the risk exposure from the prior year.

10. Diocesan Apportionment

Under an agreement with the Diocese of New Westminster, the Parish must pay to the Diocese $1,200
(2019 - $1,200) on the first $35,000 of all adjusted revenues, 155% (2019 - 155%) of adjusted revenues

between $35,001 and $150,000 and, 17.75Yo (2019 - 17.75%) of adjusted revenues over $150,000 on a
three year moving average basis. The amount paid in 2020 amounted to $35,792 (2019 - $61,920).

11. St. Catherine's Child Care Society (Note 2(e))

The Society is a not-for-profit organization and therefore exempt from income taxation as long as certain
criteria continue to be met. The Society provides child care services in the Parish's premises. During the

year, the Parish received contributions of $24,680 (2019 - $17,800) from the Society for use of the hall.

The following is a summary of the Society's unaudited 31 July 2020 financial statements prepared on a

review engagement basis:
2020 20t9

$ 337,249
50,229

$ 331,777
55,682

27s.095 s 287 020

Total assets

Total liabilities
Net assets

Revenue
Expenses
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over

Cash flows:
Operations
Member services
Investing

Increase (decrease) in cash

$

$ 316,548
328,473

447,80t
425,422

$

$ (11.925) s 22.3',79

(29,597) S 32,008
3,261 (8,691)

Q,t6?)

$

13

$ (46,132) $ 20,155



THE PARISH OF ST. CATHERINE'S (CAPILANO)
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 31 December 2020
(unaudited)

12. Pension Plans

General Synod Pension Plan

The Parish participates in a defined contribution multi-employer pension plan (the "Plan") administered
by the Pension Office Corporation of the Anglican Church of Canada. The Plan covers clergy who work
over 20 hours.

The Plan provides pension based on length of service and final average earnings. The annual funding
requirements are determined in consultation with the actuaries to provide long-term stability of the Plan.

The Parish contributes 12.5% (2019 - 11.9%) and the employees contribute 5.0% (2019 - 5.3%) of their
stipend plus the greater of % stipend or housing allowance to the Plan.

Total pension plan expense for 2020 amounted to $7,299 (2019 - 56,620).

13. Impact of COVID-l9

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-I9 outbreak to be a public health
emergency. This pandemic has caused an increase in economic uncertainty that has led to volatility in
international markets and disrupted business operations around the world. The Parish's primary source of
revenue is derives from collections and donations. At the date of the Independent Practitioners'Review
Engagement Report, the Parish continued to receive collections and donations. Currently, management is
unable to determine whether COVID-I9 will have a significant impact on the future revenues, expenses
or operations.
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THE PARISH OF ST. CATHERINE'S (CAPILANO)
Schedule of Deferred Contributions

For the Year Ended 3l December 2020
(unaudited)

Balance

3l December
2019 Receiots Exoenditures

Balance
31 December

2020

Accessibility Improvements
Altar Guild
Anglican Journal
Bequests

Camp Artaban
Capital Development Fund

Care and Share

Memorial Fund
Messy Church
Mission to Seafarers

Music Fund
Paint Fund

Parish Initiative
Parish Outreach

Parish Outreach (turning point)
PWRDF
Refugee Fund

Sunday School
Vicars Discretionary Fund

Website Development

677

350

17,500

5,368

3,265
10,968

(20,000)
(3,26s)
(7,065)

30

100

$ 1,025 $

1,353

31,399
25

18,504

(762)

(320)

( l,000)
(l 80)

(l 1,785)
(210)

(4,e66)

1,025

1,268
350

48,899

25

3,872

$ $

22,863
190

290
2,622
1,000

17,751

2,409
1,794

l5
60

40

45

368
I 1,785

515

6,r63

26,766
190

2,722

17,939
2,409
1,499
1,212

60
60

425

45

20

3,694 (3,269)

Total $ 100.785 $ 60.803 $ (s2 822\ $ t08.766
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Memo to: Vestry 
From:  Bruce Davidson, Treasurer 
Re:  Comments on 2020/2019 Variances 
Date:  January 25, 2021 
 
1. Offertory - Our Offertory Collections were down $17,900 or 9.7% from 2019. However, 
once Festival Gift giving is included in collections, our total Collections were only down $7,000 
or 3.7% from the previous year. Considering that the church was closed for a significant portion 
of the year due to Covid-19 restrictions and that we lost some parishioners during the year, 
either moving away or through sickness, the minor drop in Collections was considered a 
blessing. Many of the parishioners increased their contributions over the previous year.   

2. Facilities Rental – Starting in the middle of March, we had to shut down most of our 
lessees due to Covid-19 restrictions. Many of these organizations did not start up again in the 
Fall. The Preschool and Camp Artaban continued to rent through the entire year. During the 
year, we provided a rent reduction to the preschool of $2,340 as part of the CECRA rent 
reduction program from the government during Covid-19. Overall, our Hall rental was down 
$16,000 or 19.7% from the previous year. 

We have not rented our parking facilities since the expiration of our contract with Grosvenor in 
mid 2019. Therefore, parking rentals were down $28,000 or 100% from the previous year.  

3. Diocesan Grant – During the year, we received assistance from the Diocese to cover our 
Vicars wages and benefits for 2 months ($12,500) and our Diocesan monthly assessment for 5 
months ($25,600). The reduction in monthly assessment has been netted on our financial 
statements. In total, we received Diocesan assistance of approx. $38,000 in 2020. 

4. Wage subsidy – Wage subsidy consists of CEWS government assistance in the amount of 
$10,523. This assistance helped subsidize the wages for our Music Director and Administrator 
due the Covid-19 shutdown restrictions. 

5. Sundry Receipts – Sundry receipts were down from 2019 primarily because we had no 
Special Fundraising activities during 2020.  

6. Repairs & Maintenance – We continued to incur some significant R&M in 2020 including 
replacing all locksets and keys, repair church heating system, refinishing gym floors, moving the 
gate and installing bollards, painting the exterior and interior rooms of the church and replacing 
stairs to the kitchen. The contracted maintenance was significantly higher than average for 
undertaking small projects throughout the church. 

7. Office Supplies – Total office supplies expense was down $5.800 or 40% from 2019. This 
decrease was primarily due to the church closure from covid-19. The reduction in supplies was 
partially offset by Hosting service costs to have online church services. These additional costs 
were expensed under Service supplies in the Worship category. 
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8. Our Operating Bank cash took a significant hit in 2020. Our annual deficit (before 
amortization - a non cash expense) reduced our operating cash by $13,300. Our investment in 
our new Alarm system and upgrades to our building to meet Fire safety regulations reduced our 
Operating cash by another $32,500. This Alarm/Fire safety installation was shared 50/50 with 
the St Catherine’s Preschool. In addition, $20,000 of our Capital Development Fund was used to 
cover many of these costs.  

There were no other variances to note. 

 

Budget 2021  
Bruce Davidson 

 

[Draft 2021 budget follows on the next three pages, followed by the treasurer’s notes] 
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This is to accompany the 3-page summary of the 2021 Draft Budget for St Catherine’s Church in 
the Vestry package.  

I am currently projecting a deficit of approx. $65,000 for the year 2021. After deducting 
depreciation, the deficit would reduce our Operating Cash/Bank balances by $50,000, which is 
still above the available Operating Cash to operate for a full year which I have estimated to be 
approx. $37,000.  

Also, please note that the budget was based on the church being closed from January to March 
and reopening in April due to Covid19 restrictions. So, this closure influences revenues, 
especially Hall rental revenues, as well as influencing certain expenses.  

A summary of important items to note in the budget are as follows: 

1. Offertory is based on a review of pledges for 2021 as well as an estimate of 
contributions from those parishioners that have not pledged. Pledges were up from 
2020 but, factoring in other estimates, we are only budgeting an increase of less than 
1% over last year. 

2. While plans are not finalized at this time to generate additional Special Appeal 
contributions, we have put in an estimate of $12,000 for Offertory special appeals, 
which is down $4,700 or 28% from 2020. At this point, it is difficult to know whether our 
congregation will continue to support the special appeals program when, in some cases, 
they have already bumped up their monthly Offertory support. 

3. We have estimated a drop in Festival Gifts to be conservative. It is difficult to determine 
how parishioners will respond to each of Easter, Thanksgiving and Christmas appeals 
since some have already bumped up their Offertory. 

4. We have not yet budgeted anything for Special Fundraising for 2020 because plans are 
not finalized. An Ad Hoc Committee from parish council is addressing the deficit 
specifically.  

5. Hall revenue from January to June was based on which tenants were still able to use the 
church during this period. We have assumed that many of our former renters will come 
back starting in September. We have made estimates using what they were previously 
paying without any rental increase from 2020. 

6. Parking Lot revenue, similar to last year, is also a difficult account to estimate. I have put 
in a small estimate of the movie industry usage as we do not have any signed contracts 
at this time. I have also made an estimate of the rental income that we could generate 
from the rental of some parking stalls for the year to merchants in Edgemont Village. 
Currently, we do not have any signed contracts from any merchants, but we are more 
hopeful this year. In addition, it appears that the construction project at Connaught will 
ramp up this year and there could be some interest from the contractor in using our 
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parking stalls. We are hoping that we have been conservative on this estimate at this 
time.  

7. We have budgeted a small increase in the Rectory Rent effect August 1 because any 
rental increases are prohibited until July 10. The maximum residential rental increase for 
2021 allowed by the province is 1.4% and we must give notice prior to May 1 to increase 
the rent (3 months notice).  

8. We have not put anything in the budget for a Diocesan grant that would be over and 
above any additional costs that we might incur. More specifically, we would bump up 
both our budget expense and budget Diocese grant for the same amount and there 
would be no effect on our total budget deficit.  

9. All wages and benefits for the Vicar are per the Diocese employment contract and 
therefore, is accurate. We have made an estimate of the Music Directors and 
Administrators 2021 salary based on our discussion of hours that each would work per 
week in 2021. (Music Director 10 -12 hours and Administrator 25 hours). Hopefully, we 
can get some assistance from volunteers to reduce the Administrator hours back to 
2020 level. The budget also includes vacation relief (contract labour) for all employees.  

10. The budget assumes that Sunday school would begin again in April with no Sunday 
school during the summer months. 

11. We have budgeted Hosting services for January to March. 

12. We are budgeting a small increase in office supplies in 2020. With the return to church 
services, there will be more supplies used to prepare the service bulletins. We may be 
able to get a reduction if more communication is done electronically.  

13. We have not budgeted any expense for the Altar Guild. Like last year, we will use the 
balance in the Restricted Fund to pay for all Altar Guild expenses. 

14. We have also not budgeted any new Fixed Asset purchases for 2021. The treasurer has 
recommended that we use Restricted Funds to purchase any long-term assets and 
therefore, the cost of the asset will not show on our Balance sheet, there will be no 
amortization expense relating to the purchase and our Operating funds will not be 
depleted by a significant capital cost outlay.  

15. In addition to certain monthly R&M costs that occur regularly, we have budgeted for 
only two R&M projects that are yet undefined. Any R&M projects should be limited to 
“must do” rather than “like to have done” projects.  

16. The balance of the property, rectory, insurance and utility expenses should be similar or 
slightly increased from 2020 based on our review of each expense.  
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Sacred Spaces (Building and 
Grounds) Reports  
 

Building, Safety and Fire Alarm Report  
Gordon Lee 

In 2020, St. Catherine’s made a significant 
investment in a fire alarm system. Some years ago, 
the church had installed smoke alarms that 
connected to its security system. However, in 2010, the District of North Vancouver and the 
District Fire and Rescue Service deemed that these were inadequate to protect the children in 
our Preschool. 

In 2019, the St. Catherine’s Childcare Society established by the Parish in 1991, decided to offer 
daycare in addition to its preschool programs. Demand for daycare has been increasing as 
demand for 2 or 3 half days a week preschool has declined. To offer extended early childhood 
education programs required that the Society obtain a daycare license, and the Preschool made 
an application for it. 

The District of North Vancouver then informed the Preschool that to obtain a daycare license 
the church would have to upgrade its fire safety. The first request was a modest one – to 
develop a fire safety plan and to undertake fire safety checks every 2 hours when the Preschool 
was in operation. The church and the Preschool paid for the development of this plan. This 
District request soon escalated to a requirement that the church install a fire alarm system. 
Then, the District required that St. Catherine’s obtain a building permit to install the fire alarm 
system and to hire a Coordinating Registered Professional (an architect or an engineer) to apply 
for the building permit, to oversee the installation of the fire alarm system, and to certify that 
the work met the current building code. Then, the District Fire and Rescue Service demanded 
that the church install emergency exit signs and emergency lights, that it upgrade the door 
hardware on most exit doors, install fire proof windows next to exit doors and magnetic door 
closures to two sets of doors within the church, and finally to add a separate fire alarm 
monitoring system to our existing security monitoring service. 

These escalating demands from the District resulted in cost increases of a $25,000 fire alarm 
system to $113,181.52 . The St. Catherine’s Childcare Society paid half of this amount. Of the 
$56,590.76 paid for by the church, $20,000 came out of the Parish Capital Development Fund.  

Without the installation of the fire alarm system, the Preschool would not have obtained a 
daycare license, and with the decline in demand its childcare services, it would not have been 
able to survive. This would have resulted in a significant reduction in church rental revenue, and 
in our ability to serve the needs of parents and young children in our community. 
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Garden and Grounds  
Kim Mead & Steve Jackson  

Over this past year Steve Jackson, Gordon Lee, and I have continued to revitalize the 
landscaping surrounding St. Catherine’s Church. 

Memorial Garden 

The lawn was aerated twice, once in spring and 
for a second time in fall, followed with a lime 
and fertilizer application. Scotts GrubBGon Max 
was also applied spring, summer, and fall to 
control the chafer beetle larvae. This product 
contains a live natural soil born bacteria that 
targets grubs, but is non toxic to plants and 
other wildlife. The garden itself received regular 
maintenance with a weekly weeding, while 
perennials and bulbs were trimmed back 
accordingly. We were fortunate to have a 
landscaper prune the laurel hedge for us in 
summer. The side closest to the church received 
an additional trim last week to lower the height for viewing. 

Rose Bed (along driveway) 

Steve did an excellent job of clearing out this bed and staying on top of the weeds this summer. 
In addition, I brought several divisions of Rudbeckia hirta (black-eyed Susan), Sedum autumnalis 
(Stonecrop) and Hemerocallis (day lily) from my home garden to help fill in the space. We 
should continue to enjoy these perennials’ blooms in the years to come. 

Ridgewood Rockery 

We continue to work to revitalize this area. Last year, much of the ivy was cleared out along 
with selective plants to help expose the rockery. My hope is to devote more time to this area in 
the coming season. I have several Hostas at home that I plan on dividing this spring to help fill in 
the area. I’ve also thought of formatting a wish list of plants that could be presented to the 
congregation if anyone would like to donate. In addition, it would be wonderful if we could find 
room in the budget for mulch as much of the topsoil has been lost to erosion over the years. 

Ridgewood Lawn 

Last spring, we levelled the area along Ridgewood Drive with topsoil and seeded the area. Both 
GrubBGon was also applied in spring, summer, and fall. The grass came in quite nicely, but the 
area will continue to require a consistent fertilize and maintenance program in the coming 
seasons to establish as a dense, mature lawn. 
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Wish List  

 Wheel barrow 
 Additional hand tools (rake, cultivator, digging fork) 
 Additional electric string trimmer (weed wacker) 

Since COVID-19 19 has impacted our community I have been along with my other functions as 
the building and grounds contractor maintaining a COVID-19 free environment at St. 
Catherine’s.  Disinfecting all the “hardware” of the church facility has been a priority of mine.  

Basically, I stripped the floors and re-waxed them, cleaned out all rooms/areas, replaced lights, 
and maintained a COVID-19 free environment for anyone entering the facilities, including the 
children of preschool.    

As far as the property is concerned, thanks to Kim Mead and Gordon Lee, I have been able to 
keep our grounds and grasses, parking lots, drainage systems in a pristine fashion.  As if you 
were all here.   I often think of you as I’m working here and recognize all the hard work and 
effort you have done during all these years to maintain this facility.   

I hope you find it all satisfactory when you return.   

Thank you for giving me the opportunity to serve in this capacity.   

I miss each and every one of you.  

 
Student Summer Workers  
John Luccock 
 
This was the 12th summer that we continued with our Summer Workers Program.  We 
welcomed Beth Scott and Mike Rosse, who were with us for some 40 Workdays during July and 
August.  One position was paid by the Federal Government’s Student Work Program, and the 

other was paid out of Parish Funds. 
Their work consisted of thoroughly 
cleaning the inside of the Church.   They 
washed and mopped all floors, cleaned 
and oiled all the Pews, washed windows 
and light fixtures.  All books and 
furnishings, not needed in the Church, 
were removed. 
Exterior work consisted of cleaning out 
bushes and brambles, removing debris 
from the gutters and roofs, power washing 
fire escapes and stairwells, painting much 
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of the trim on the Church, painting the south side of the Church, including the Cross.  The 
workers also assisted with gardening projects when needed. 
A major job this summer was cleaning & painting the hallway outside the preschool rooms 
under the Church.  There was a myriad of other jobs carried out over the two months. 
Our thanks to Parish Council, and the Federal government for making these positions possible.  
We also thank our two workers, Mike and Beth, for their dedication to these tasks assigned. 
 
Property Development Task Force 
Gordon Lee  

After last year’s Vestry approved a motion to disband the Property Development Working 
Group until St. Catherine’s creates and implements a successful plan for ministry, some minor 
work on property development was undertaken. This included a site visit to Oakridge Lutheran 
Church which re-developed its property to include affordable housing and commercial spaces. 
In addition, Chris Wensley and Gordon Lee participated in a Diocesan property development 
workshop that featured presentations by VanCity and Catalyst Community Development 
Society. In February and March 2021, Chris and Gordon will attend an online series of 
workshops offered by Vancity on property development that incorporates affordable housing.  
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Neighborhood and Global Outreach Reports 
 

Outreach to Amica  
Bonnie Grundy  

St. Catherine's Outreach Ministry at 
the Amica Retirement Living 
Community has continued 
throughout our Pandemic time in 
2020. Prior to our first lockdown in 
March, we offered three services 
monthly on site at Amica. On the 
first Sunday of each month, we 
offered our 8:00 a.m. service there 
which was very  well-received and 
becoming more popular as the 
months went by. We also offered a 
mid-week service on the fourth 
Tuesday of each month at 1:30 p.m. 
with a faithful group of residents attending and sharing fellowship afterwards. In addition, 
Bonnie Grundy led a 'Food for the Soul' gathering in the Memory Care Unit on the third 
Thursday of each month at 7:00 pm. This took the form of a simplified Prayer 'Service' regularly 
attended by a number of Memory Care residents as well as others from Independent Living 
who also participated. 

 
The lockdown has meant the end of these in-person services, 
but we have maintained a regular presence at Amica in several 
ways. As often as possible on the fourth Tuesday afternoon, a 
small group meets outside the entrance to the facility and visits, 
sings and offers prayers together with Amica residents, safely 
distanced. As well, Bonnie has written cards at Easter and 
Christmas to all Amica residents who share their spiritual 
journey with us. 
 
We intend to continue these Outreach activities, as limited as 
they currently are. We and our Amica friends find them very 
meaningful even as we look forward to the time when we can 
share worship time together in person again. 
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Homeless shelter  
Phyllis Mittlestead 
 
2020 will be the first time in fifteen years we have been unable to deliver our monthly cookie 
donations to the homeless Shelter. After Jan. and Feb. we were put on hold but plan to 
continue as soon as “covid” restrictions are lifted. 
The Thanksgiving food vouchers were gratefully accepted at the shelter, also supplies from the 
Shrove Tuesday Pancake supper. 
 

Christmas Hampers 
Penny Zuk 

 
I don’t feel proud about this but Phyllis and I both decided with 
the understanding of The Christmas Bureau which is part of the 
Family Services of the North Shore that because of Covid we 
could not do our usual in person fundraising and could only give 
our parishioners the opportunity to donate on line or to sign up 
on line to support individuals or families. I myself did buy some 
toys for them but don’t know if anyone else contributed. Will try 
to do better in 2021. 

 

Turning Point  
Heather Peacock 

This past year has been slow for our donations to Turning Point Recovery House.  We no longer 
provide baskets for the men’s recovery house.  They did not reply to my messages and so it was 
felt we should concentrate on the woman’s house.  Lin Parkinson from Gloria Dei Lutheran 
church lets me know when baskets are required.  I transferred our supplies down to Gloria Dei 
and Lin generally puts the baskets together and delivers them as the house is just down the 
street from the church.  As we have a reasonable resource of funds Lin has been purchasing 
necessary supplies and then we reimburse her.  We have provided her with supplies and money 
this past year.  Like the rest of the world Turning Point has had challenges with keeping the 
clients safe in light of covid so there was less turn over than we normally expect.  That said we 
supplied them with another 10 baskets, that were blessed by the priest, in early fall. 
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Long Long Night of Hope  
Brenda Stenson 

The issue of homelessness is rampant and there is no possibility for most of these people to 
transition into their own home in North Vancouver – housing is just too expensive.  

So some members of St. Catherine’s and St. John’s did what they could do. They slept in their 
cars or at the church and raised money for The Lookout Society.  

The result – education about homelessness in North Vancouver, education about the work of 
the Lookout Shelter and $17,350 collected for that amazing organization. 

The 2020 the Long, Long Night of Hope included two Saturday nights and two locations.  

• On February 22, eight people at slept overnight at St. Catherine’s and raised $6,565. 

• On February 29, twelve people slept overnight at St. John’s and raised $10,713.  

St. Catherine’s night included an 
information session education and 
dialogue. We were fortunate to welcome 
Paul Harmon, Executive Director and 
Owen Hynes, Community Coordinator 
from The Lookout Society. Owen and Paul 
talked about their work; the successes and 
the frustrations. Everyone in attendance 
shared the gratitude for the commitment 
and dedication of these two men! 

Thanks to everyone who participated by sleeping in their car, at St. Catherine’s or at St. John’s 
and a huge thanks to everyone who donated and helped raise that $17,350. The Long, Long 
Night of Hope 2020 was the fourth year and over those four events, $85,000 was collected to 
fight homelessness! 

We are inconvenienced and frustrated that during this COVID-19 pandemic, we are forced to 
stay home. At least we have a home! 

MetroVancouver Alliance  
Linda Robertson and Paul Clark 

The involvement of St. Catherine’s in the MVA has been substantial. The results of that 
involvement have also been remarkable in making important gains on social justice issues of 
Care Home Quality, Poverty, Social Isolation and Housing. I want to thank the many 
parishioners and the church in general for their support over the past 6 years. 
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Here are a few of the events that many of us have attended and have even hosted: 

 Listening campaign to identify issues Jan-March 2014 – 30+participants 
 Founding of MVA  ( 700 participants from 56 organizations) with Bishop Mellissa March 

2014  20 participants from St. Catherine’s. I spoke as Co-Chair of the Social Inclusion 
Team 

 Vancouver Mayoralty Assembly  (800 participants) 18 from St. Catherine’s October 
2014. Got commitments from all candidates for Living Wage (enacted in 2015) 
Affordable Housing, and Social Isolation ( Program initiated at Neighbourhood Houses in 
2016)  

 Inglewood Care home action  involving St. Catherine’s and 4 other North shore churches 
and HarEl temple along with HEU (Hospital Employees Union). Achieved better working 
conditions for workers resulting in better care for residents. Andrew Wilhelm-Boyles 
was a leader in this action. 

 Affordable Housing Assembly hosted by St. Catherine’s in 2016.There were 250 
participants, many from St Catherine’s getting commitments from the 3 Northshore 
Mayors and 2 Federal MPs.  

 MVA has put on over a dozen leadership and community organizing workshops that 
many Anglicans have attended including Bishop Melissa and all Deacons. These are free 
with institutional membership. 

 BC Provincial Election 2018 Leaders assembly (800 participants) with 15 from St. 
Catherine’s. Commitments made on Housing and Healthcare on which we were included 
in budget preparation and follow-up accountability sessions with Carole James. 

 This year has been a rebuilding year. We are working on Anti -Racism with particular 
emphasis on Aboriginal Reconciliation. I will continue working with MVA through the 
Anglican Eco-Justice Unit and hope soon to be able to represent St. Catherine’s again.  
Parish Council decided to put a hold on our membership for 2020 to focus on 
maintaining the parish during COVID. They will look at this again in June 2021.  

Thank you for supporting this Ministry for 6 years. 

 
PWRDF (Primates World Relief and Development Fund)  
Monica Macdonald 
 
Once again the Primate’s World Relief and Development Fund would like to give a big thank you 
for the generous donations from individuals and the collective membership of Saint Catherine’s 
Church made in support of the fund. 
Your donations have helped to improve health, food security, and the livelihoods of vulnerable 
people in thirty - three countries, including Canada. 
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Supporting typhoon relief in the Philippines, food relief in Zimbabwe with the Food grains bank 
and displaced families in Iraq have been some of the projects that P.W.R.D.F. has been involved 
in recently. 
Climate change and Covid 19 have made the situations even more challenging and our help is 
needed more than ever. 
Please visit www.pwrdf.org for up-to-date information on the wide variety of 
projects P.W.R.D.F. Is involved in and ways to contribute. 
 
Thank you for your continued support of P.W.R.D.F., making a positive difference in our world. 
 
Thanksgiving Dinner Vouchers  
Chris Wensley 

We were unable to organize our traditional Thanksgiving Dinner in October for the needy in our 
community. In its place, we launched a fundraising appeal “Grateful for Abundance 
Thanksgiving 2020” to assist St Catherine’s to offset shortages in funding during the pandemic 
and to provide grocery vouchers to our neighbours in North Vancouver in lieu of the annual 
Thanksgiving Dinner.  

 

The appeal, between 20 September and 11 October 2020, aimed to recognize our good fortune 
despite COVID-19. Thanks to the generosity of the St Catherine’s community we were able to 
raise a total of $10,196 in donations out of the initial goal of $16,000. The funds received were 
split 50/50 between the two causes.  On 8-9 October and 16 November a total of 204 food 
vouchers of $25 were delivered to our neighbours as follows, based on their needs: Pathways 
Mental Illness Society (15); Canadian Mental Health Association (14); Seniors Hub (4); Turning 
Point (10); Look Out Centre (57); Neighbourhood House (74); Harvest Project (20); and the John 
Braithwaite Centre (10). The agencies supporting our neighbours have all expressed their 
appreciation to the St Catherine’s community for our support during COVID-19.  

Thanks to Bob Paxton, Lynn Spence, Vivian McGie, Phyllis Mittlestead, Heather Peacock and 
Bruce Davidson for assisting with this appeal. 
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Festival of Lights Tree  
Bonnie Grundy 

This Christmas season for the first time, St. Catherine's 
took part in the annual 'Festival of Lights' tree display in 
West Vancouver. We purchased a Christmas tree which 
was set up for us and wired for lights near the pier in 
Dundarave. Bonnie and Nairn Grundy were responsible 
for putting the lights on the tree; Robb and Alison Watt 
used the decorations we all made plus a few others from 
our Christmas tree bin to really bring the tree to life. The 
ornaments we all created for it were beautiful and most 
withstood the weather quite well. As those of us who saw 
the display during the Christmas season will agree, our 
tree looked just lovely! 

One requirement made of us in participating in the 
project was to collect contributions for the Lookout Shelter in North Vancouver. We were able 
to collect $295.00 for this initiative, which we have sent on. 

Thanks to everyone for your help with this new project! 

 

REST (Regional Ecumenical Sponsorship Team)  
Shannon Muir 

REST has continued to work toward sponsoring refugees throughout the year. Members of the 
group have continued to provide support as needed to those people who were sponsored 
previously. In addition, Dave and Wilna Parry, at St. Clement’s Anglican Church worked with the 
Canuck Family Education Centre and other friends to enable Canadian Memorial United Church 
in Vancouver to submit a refugee sponsorship application for an Afghani family. St. Clement’s 
acted as the constituent group for sponsorship of Nasrullah. He joined his sister Fatemeh in 
2019. They are hoping their remaining sister & family are able to join them soon and grateful 
for Canadian Memorial’s support with the application.  

Mousa arrived from Lebanon in November of 2019. He found a job as a dishwasher at Nook 
restaurant at the Shipyards. Then, the restaurant shut down due to Covid-19. Mousa found 
another job as a night shopper at Superstore in Vancouver. Once the restaurant re-opened, he 
re-started that job also. He now has two jobs and his own apartment. He supports himself and 
sends a little money to his family in Lebanon when he can. I am currently talking to some of you 
about possibly sponsoring Mousa’s three oldest brothers. Once we have a settlement group 
organized, I will be searching for a church to act as Co-sponsor. Please let me know if your 
church might be able to do this.  
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New Sponsorships:  

REST has applied for 4 more refugees to come to Canada with our help. Lidine, Chance and Julie 
are from the Democratic Republic of the Congo, and are co-sponsored with their family 
members in Surrey, who will the settlement work and assist with funds as they are able. We 
have also applied for Sarah, a young Iraqi woman who is now in Lebanon. Their applications are 
now in process and we hope for speedy processing, but realistically, we do not expect them to 
arrive for a couple of years. Please keep these people in your prayers. They live with dangers to 
their health and safety every day.  

Fundraising: 

A huge thank you to everyone who has responded to requests for funds to do these 
sponsorships and to provide for special appeals when we find that there is a great need for 
something. We have funds waiting in the REST account, ready to support the newcomers when 
they arrive.  

Ongoing: 

I do have a small file with Refugees seeking sponsors that are very special cases. If anyone hears 
of or would like to form a small group to sponsor one or more people, please let me know. The 
biggest cost of sponsorship is housing, so if there is a spare room that you know of where a 
person would be welcomed, the other costs are not huge.  

Thank you for everything you continue to do to support these wonderful and deserving people 
to come join us in Canada. 
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Community Connection Reports  
 
Coffee Conversation  
Heather Luccock and Elizabeth Barrett 
 
We had Coffee & Conversation in January and February 
and then it was suspended for 2020 as a result of Covid 19 
virus. In February we celebrated Lillian Jilling’s 100 
birthday. In December Elizabeth Barratt, Elaine Van Horne 
and Heather Luccock sent out Christmas cards to people 
who usually came and also to those who were shut in, 
especially at Amica. We are hopeful that we may be able 
to resume Coffee & Conversation later in the year. 
 
Men’s Breakfast  
Tony Dodd 
 
Before the pandemic, we had between 8 to 10 men turn up for breakfast. Because of other 
commitments, we finished earlier in the year 
and then the pandemic put a stop on any further meetings. I would like to thank those who 
helped set up the tables and cutlery, and for clearing up after. We were; not knights of the 
round table but knights of the rectangular table. A thank you to John Luccock for preparing the 
breakfast until we decided he needed to join us. So we brought in at great expense some 
gourmet chefs, thank you Brenda Stenson and Heather Peacock. When this pandemic is over 
we will start again and hopefully, you will assist. To all who attend thank you for companionship 
and hope to see at breakfast soon. 
 
Generation X and the Late Boomers  
Billy and Rhonda Garton 

Generation X and the Late Boomers is a social group of roughly 40-65 year old parishioners. We 
aim to connect in small or large groups for anything from hikes to potlucks, music events and 
more... 
 

We just got going late in 2019 and only had a couple of events before we were sidelined by 
Covid. Our last gathering was a lovely potluck dinner at the home of one of our members early 
in 2020. We look forward to kicking things back up once we can safely do so. In the meantime, 
please feel free to check out our Facebook page:  facebook.com/SaintCatherines or search 
Generation X and the Late Boomers on Facebook, and start thinking about all the things we can 
do once this pandemic is behind us. We would love to have you join us! 
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New Members  
Rev. Sharon 

This year we are pleased to welcome the following new members into the St Catherine’s 
community:  
Maddy Walters 
Daela Dalzell  
Laura Dalzell 
Sally Lambert 
Beth Scott 
Fiona Scott 
 
Newcomers Feedback  
Mermi Vouse and Sharon Fedorak 

Sharon Fedorak spoke with new members of 8am service. They both were happy and positive 
about their experience with St Catherine’s. Importantly they got the good feeling cause they 
both were introduced with St Catherine’s toward a family member or a friend. 
 
Mermi and Rev Sharon facilitated a meeting of newcomers: They asked them about their first 
experience at St. Catherine, as well as any challenges they faced or any encouragements they 
received in that experience. 
 
Recommendations were as follows: 
- Providing a Welcoming video as well as a Virtual video tour around the place, showing 

when newcomers enter what they will expect on the Website. 
- Having a site map on the website or on a brochure 
- Suggesting adding a page for Children on the Website 
- Providing clear information about what to expect in the service. 
- Having a clear message to say that they can participate as much as they like, and we do 

not expect otherwise. 
- Providing more clear instruction about communion and sharing peace on the booklet  
- Providing clear information about 
mindset of St Catherine’s and the sides they 
support 
 

Zoom Coffee Conversation  
Alison Watt & Rev. Sharon 
 
During the Covid-19 pandemic, it has been 
vitally important to keep as connected as 
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possible with the members of the parish.  One way which Rev. Sharon has done this is to have 
regular Zoom Coffee gatherings after the service on Sundays.  Initially this was scheduled at 
11:30 and then when we were able to be in church it moved to 12 noon and it remains 
scheduled at 12:00 pm for half an hour each Sunday.   A group of parishioners regularly zoom in 
at this time - and the number varies between 10 - 25 people at a time.   We have a general 
check in on how people are doing, and then a session to discuss the service.   If the group is 
large, we use the break-out room function on zoom which allows Rev. Sharon to divide the 
group into smaller sub-groups for discussion.  People with computers can join with video and 
audio, and people with telephones can join with audio on their phones.    The numbers are 
always shown on the screen at the end of the service.   
We encourage anyone in the parish to join and keep connected with fellow parishioners, and to 
learn more about the interests and activities that are keeping people engaged in during these 
times of isolation.  
 

Hiking Group  
Kim Mead 
 
This past summer to mark my 
fiftieth birthday, I invited members 
of St. Catherine’s to join me on a 
pilgrimage across the North Shore 
mountains, following the Baden 
Powell trail. I was thrilled to have 
five people join me, Chris and 
Susana Wensley, Gordon Lee, 
Reverend Sharon Smith, and 
Melanie Hackett. Many times we 
remarked along the way what a gift this trail was to have at our doorstep and we were 
delighted to learn that Derek Barratt helped build the trail, commemorating 100 years of 
Scouting in Canada.  
 
Though the hiking was challenging at times, we all enjoyed the time together and getting to 
know one another better. We agreed that a St. Catherine’s hiking group would be a wonderful 
addition to our community, and I hope this Spring, Covid dependent, we can begin planning a 
few hikes. With varying terrain or distances I believe that we could appeal to more members of 
St. Catherine’s.   
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Spiritual Development Reports  
 

Sunday School  
Daela Dalzell and Ethan Spence  

 
2020 has been a challenging year for the Sunday school 
crew. We have tried our best to 
continue inclusion throughout our time apart from each 
other, but it has been difficult. We 
started our year off strong with the normal proceedings. 
Seeing full attendance and 
participation almost every Sunday. We use seasons of the 
spirit as lesson planning guides and 
follow the readings chosen by Reverend Sharon. Seasons of 
the Spirit is a lovely resource, the 
children enjoy the activities and stories and we as instructors 
appreciate it’s easy to navigate 
website 
In the ladder half of the year, we struggled to keep up the 
community aspect of Sunday 
school. There were a few successful events that brought 
much joy to the parents and children. 
With the help of Natasha, we were able to hold a virtual Easter egg hunt which had very 
successful participation and had lots of positive feedback from the parents. This is an event that 
the children and parents would love to see done again this year. We were also able, with the 
guidance of Siiri, to bring together our core group of children in song and dance for a service 
over the summer. In 2021 we hope that there will be a time that we can gather as a small 
community again, there is nothing that compares to the energy that is felt when the instructors 
and the students are together reading and teaching each other about all things spiritual. 
 
St Catherine’s Childcare Society 
Gillian Holland 
 
St. Catherine’s Childcare is a mission of St. Catherine’s Church. We are dedicated to the 
Philosophy of Play, which encourages children to use their creativity to grow, while developing 
their imagination, dexterity, physical, cognitive, and emotional strength. I am continually 
impressed by the cheerful dedication and versatility of SCCCS’ teaching staff. They have 
embraced the changes in routines and protocols necessary to reopen the school safely this 
September, embracing new ways to communicate and share the activities of the children with 
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our families, allowing the laughter and happy voices of the children to once again fill the 
church. Much of the credit for this successful transformation was developed by our Manager, 
Tina Spencer and our Resource Educator, Marion Porter and we owe them many thanks for 
continuing to change and update the procedures necessary to keep our children, and staff safe 
and healthy. 
A big thank you to all our parents who accepted the necessity of not being able to enter the 

church building or visit the 
classrooms in order to keep 
everyone as safe as possible. At our 
first ever zoom AGM, we were very 
excited to have an outpouring of 
parents willing to be part of the 
Board and hold Committee posts.  
Financially, with the closure of the 
church building in mid March, the 
Society ran a loss as we were 
unable to finish the school year or 
run our summer program. Thanks 
to our federal government, our 
staff was able to apply for CERB. 
This past spring the church agreed 

to apply for CECRA. We applied for CEWS, and this fall, CERS, and the $40,000 CEBA loan. 
The church and SCCCS have become closer this year. Especially, we are grateful to the People’s 
Warden, Gordon Lee, for more than two years of work on our behalf to accomplish the 
installation of the fire alarm system church wide and a myriad of other upgrades, which have 
resulted in SCCCS being able to offer more hours to our families, whose needs have so 
drastically changed with this pandemic. Our deep thanks also go to the constant support of our 
vicar, the Rev. Dr. Sharon Smith, the Parish Council members, Heather Peacock, Penny Zuk and 
Sharon Fedorak, who sit on our board, Bruce Davidson, Church treasurer, and all the members 
of the Parish Council. 
We thank all of our church community for supporting us in the work of SCCCS through your 
prayers, and by participating in our Samosa and Purdy’s fundraisers.   
 

Pilgrim Course - Eucharist  
Rev. Sharon 
 
The Pilgrim Course is lays a foundation for a lifetime of learning more about God’s love revealed 
in Jesus Christ and what it means to be a disciple of Jesus. Assuming little or no knowledge of 
the Christian faith, Pilgrim can be used at any point on the journey of discipleship and by every 
Christian tradition. 
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In 2020 we continued our journey with Pilgrim this time on 
Zoom with a study of the Eucharist. Ten of us gathered over 6 
Tuesdays in April/May. It was most pertinent to be reflecting 
on this sacred ritual while not participating in it due to COVID 
lockdown. 
We explored other ways to break bread and the many ways 
that we offer food to one another in our homes at the food 
bank as part of sharing Christ. We reflected on our longings 
and our thirsts and our desire for unconditional love. We noted 
the many ‘thin’ places in our world where heaven and earth 
meet, where eternity and the present come together.  
While the discussions and prayer was rich, the Zoom platform 
was not ideal for everyone.  
 
A highlight for the group was the in-person baptism of two 
new parishioners. This pilgrim group became their sponsors 
and supporters. It was indeed a gift!! 
 

Spiritual Practice Course 
Rev. Anne Crosthwait 

“Living from the Centre” was offered during the fall of 2020 as an experiential introduction to 
Christian contemplative life. Most members came to the group hoping to learn more about 
meditation and prayer. The intent of the group was to give the members a taste of a 
contemplative orientation to life which is reflective so activities come out of a prayerful 
thoughtful place rather than a reactive and busy response. 

We gathered as a small zoom group each Monday evening for six weeks. Each week we 
explored a principle of contemplative life and a prayer practice. The members experimented 
with the different prayer styles and we discussed what they experienced. Over the six weeks we 

formed a supportive learning community realizing 
spiritual growth is very satisfying and never ending. 

Deep Diversity Course  
Dr. Jessica Motherwell McFarlane & Rev. Sharon 
Smith 

Sixteen of the St Catherine’s community gathered on 
Zoom to learn the spiritual practice of Deep Diversity. 
A spiritual practice because it helps us as we walk in 
the peace-making way of Jesus. Deep Diversity helps 
us see those who are marginalized, hear others' 
stories and mature our own participation in social 
justice.  

Will you seek and serve Christ in all 
persons, loving your neighbour as 

yourself? 

I will, with God’ s help. 

Will you strive for justice and peace 
among all people, and respect the 

dignity of every human being? 

I will, with God’ s help. 

(Book of Alternative Services, Baptism 
Vows, pg 159) 

 

One Participant wrote: The 
Eucharist for me is the symbolic 
act of giving the bread and wine 
by Jesus at the Last Supper, in 
remembrance of his life, purpose 
and sacrifice, it is an unbroken 
chain holding his church as one for 
two thousand years, in spite of 
various practices and 
interpretations . From a simple act 
of “remembering”  Jesus, to the 
experience of tasting the body and 
blood of Christ, we all share in the 
sacrament of the Eucharist. 
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With thanks to Dr. Jessica Motherwell McFarlane (a beloved member of the Wednesday 
Contemplative Group) for her creativity and academic expertise for leading us along an 
exhilarating journey to Love in its deepest sense. There were mountains; there were pebbles in 
our shoes; there was sweat on our brows; and there were many belly laughs all along the way. 
And most of all there were visual narratives in the form of comics! 

We read the work of Shakil Choudhury and learnt to self-assess our own emotions, bias, tribes 
and power. We sought to practice the skills of self-awareness, 
self-regulation, self-education, empathy and relationship building, 
and meaning making.  

The Welcoming Practice, Deep Listening and Contemplative 
Photography opened us up to mystery and awareness.  

And we reflected on quotes like this one from: Ibram X. Kendi 
says it best: “But for all of that life-shaping power, race is a 
mirage, which doesn’t lessen its force. We are what we see 
ourselves as, whether what we see exists or not. We are what 
people see us as, whether what they see exists or not. What 
people see in themselves and others has meaning and manifests 

itself in ideas and actions and policies, even if what they are seeing is an illusion. Race is a 
mirage but one that we do well to see, while never forgetting it is a mirage, never forgetting 
that it’s the powerful light of racist power that makes the mirage” 

And one participant wrote this: “Deep Diversity was a wonderful course for me. It engaged me 
personally.  For me the weekly use of visual narratives (stick figure comics) by each of the 
course participants helped me internalize concepts I wanted to remember and capture illusive 
thoughts in a way that stayed with me. I was humbled but enriched by my scores on the Implicit 
Association Test (IAT) and thankful for the lessons in interpersonal listening to others. The sheer 
variety of resources made available to us each week allowed each of us to choose ways that 
appealed to us to grow in our understanding of where we presently are and how we could open 
ourselves up to move forward in our care for others” 

 

Wednesday Spiritual Practices Group  
Rev. Sharon 
 
This year, in response to social distancing, the Wednesday Contemplative Service moved to 
Zoom (phone and video) on Wednesdays at 10am.  

Without the Eucharist, we found a new rhythm - arriving, welcoming, praying, lighting candles, 
contemplative reading, silence and sharing.  
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Due to the accessibility of an online platform, the group grew in number and diversity. Each 
week between 8 and 20 people gathered (and still gather) to learn and grow in contemplative 
practices.  

Rev Sharon: “Personally this group has been a place where I find my ground. Welcoming my 
reactions to situations, interactions and emotions beyond my control, consenting to the work 
of the Spirit within. I am grateful for this weekly gathering”. 

Social Isolation Lenten Series 
Brenda Stenson 
 
The 2020 Lenten series promised to be an opportunity for some time to imagine the impact 
that ordinary life events and changes have on our ability to feel included.  
We were so fortunate to connect with Amie Peacock, a passionate and creative weaver of 
people and the founder of Beyond the Conversation. Amie uses her entrepreneurial mindset to 
change the landscape of social isolation, loneliness and mental health bringing awareness to 
others.  
A group of brave St. Catherine’s parishioners agreed to participate in the series by sharing some 
of their personal journey and how it impacts their sense of belonging. This group met together 
with Amie to talk about what that might look like. Each individual shared his or her personal 
circumstances. 
Situations shared and discussed included retirement, mental health struggles, loss of a partner, 
sexuality, loss of home, immigration, living alone, unemployment, and being the caregiver for a 
dependent loved one. The morning exposed person's 
vulnerabilities. It was emotional, weighty and very, very soul 
feeding. Everyone was open and honest; however unfortunately 
there was not an opportunity to share with the parish.  
After church one Sunday, parishioners were invited to bring their 
lunch and watch Jack Nicholson in the hilarious, but thought-
provoking movie About Schmidt. It was about, Warren Schmidt, a 
unique character, who faced common circumstances – retirement, 
bereavement, friendship betrayal and family strain. Each one may 
lead to social isolation.  
We were unable to continue with the Lenten series due to COVID 
gathering restrictions. Not being able to come together physically 
became a lesson in itself.   
Social isolation means someone is receiving a low quantity and 
quality of contact with others in mutually rewarding relationships. 
Loneliness is the result because of the lack of interaction quantity or quality of mutual contact 
that reward the efforts. 
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This certainly applies to our lives in 2020. It only accentuates this issue for many and gives us all 
a deeper understanding of the effects of social isolation.  
Whatever you name it – social isolating, social distancing, social exclusion, it results in the same 
sense of un connectedness and loneliness. 
We surely all have a deeper understanding of un connectedness and loneliness. Hopefully we 
will be able to come together soon and continue talking about Social Isolation and what it 
means for us personally, for our community of St. Catherine’s and for the wider community in 
which we live and serve.   
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Worship Reports  
 

Liturgical Advisory Committee  
Robb Watt 

The Committee met three times in 2020; 28 January, 6 August and 20 October. The January 
meeting was reported on at last year’s vestry and involved planning for the Lent and Holy 
Week. The focus of the August meeting was on how to develop liturgies for a congregation that 
had not been able to worship in person because of Covid 19. The ideas developed were 
instituted briefly in late August and early September when in person worship was briefly 
permitted. In October the planning was for Advent and Holy Week. There were some 
interesting ideas, which were shared with about 35 members of the congregation via an email 

message and there were some 
excellent responses that were 
summarized and shared with the 
Committee, which proposed some 
further ideas to Reverend Sharon. 
This approach is being carried 
forward for the Committee’s 
operation this year. 
 
Members of the Committee are 
Bonnie Grundy, Evan Jennings, Vivian 
McGie, Siiri Rebane, Reverend 
Sharon, and Robb Watt ( Chair). The 
Chair wishes to thank all the 
members for their work on this 
important ministry stream. The next 

meeting of the Committee, to plan for lent and Easter will be held in the first half of February 
2021 
 

Music Director  
Siiri Rebane (with input from Susana Valente and Alice Korfman) 

In 2020, the Adult Choir continued to work hard and provide weekly musical leadership during 
Sunday morning services with special music selections from a variety of styles and composers 
until middle of the March when COVID-19 changed everything.  For the first month or so all the 
music production, including the combination of the “virtual choir” voices, had to be done 
online.  Eventually we were able to start live recordings in the sanctuary.  When the church 
eventually started live Zoom services, we were able to have up to four choir members at the 
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time participating.  As the in-person services resumed, we had to adjust the numbers of singers 
to meet the COVID-19 regulations.   

As we all know, 2020 brought many challenges to all of us.  With all the adjustments that had to 
be made came also some opportunities.  It gave a chance to many of our choir members, and 
also to congregation members who do not usually participate in the choir,  to sing in smaller 
groups and lead the congregational singing in that way.   We also had opportunities to hear 
beautiful instrumental music thanks to Marc Kaiser and Melanie Hackett. 

For Christmas, many congregation members and friends of St. Catherine’s participated in the 
“Silent Night Project” where individual members recorded their singing or playing and it was 
combined by Gordon Lee to a beautiful rendition of the beloved carol. 

Many thanks to Susana Valente who has donated many hours during the pandemic to help to 
keep the singing and music making happening throughout the always changing pandemic 
regulations. 

Handbells, while very much looking forward to a regular year, were stalled as everyone else by 
the pandemic.  However, since no singing is involved in the Handbell choir, and through Rev. 
Sharon’s creative solution for COVID-19 compliant 
placement of the players, we were able to resume our 
practices in September.   Handbells played for one in 
person service in October, but it all came to a full stop 
again when the lockdown measures were reinstated. 

It is my hope that 2021 will bring an end to the pandemic 
and that we can make music and worship together in 
person again. 

Again, I would like to extend my sincere thanks to all who 
have contributed to the music programme at St. 
Catherine’s. 

---- 

The impact of Covid-19 on Joyful Voice, whose chief mission and pleasure is to sing together, 
turned 2020 into a particularly tough year. Only two singers is barely a group. Humming 
through a mask is no substitute for full voiced singing, and Zoom is no substitute for standing 
shoulder to shoulder to give voice to our joy and sorrow, hope and disappointment, the fullest 
gamut of our communal emotions. 

The last and only service Joyful Voice would sing this past year was on March 1, the first Sunday 
in Lent, an afternoon service of meditation and music on the theme “Into the Wilderness.” We 
had yet to know what the coming Covid wilderness would look like, but it was worse than 
anything we imagined that afternoon. All too quickly we would keenly feel many losses, not just 
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the loss of singing together. Over the remainder of 2020, those of us who were invited by Siiri 
to sing for pre-recorded, in person, and live-streamed services were grateful for her invitation. 
We deeply appreciated the music she provided, especially the Silent Night Project. But we still 
missed singing together as a group, as Joyful Voice. 

Nevertheless, as I’ve learned over more than 10 years of being part of Joyful Voice, there are 
many other ways to serve, and Joyful Voice members have always given much of themselves to 
service. And so, in the face of restrictions on singing, our members gave themselves over to 
other tasks: 

- As wardens 
- As facilitators of many things technical and 

administrative 
- As those who pray, on their own and as 

members of the prayer circle 
- As those who send in prayers for the website or 

write them on request 
- As readers and greeters and marshals 
- As suppliers of photos 
- As a gift wrapper of Christmas communion 

wafers  
- As the servants of whatever needs to be done 

And Joyful Voice was hardly alone. So many members of 
our St. Catherine’s community gave themselves, and 
continue to give themselves, to whatever needs to be done.   

We all hope that sometime in 2021 many things will be 
restored to us, including the opportunity to sing together. 
But that day may yet be further away than we’d like.  

 
Altar Guild  
Bonnie Grundy 

The Altar Guild has continued to help prepare our worship 
spaces for our regular services in 2020, even though, for the 
most part, our services have been online. Our group began 
a large-scale clean-up of the Sacristy before the March 
lockdown and that work will continue this year [always 
safely ]. We have purchased enough candle tables now for 
use in both the sanctuary and the chapel and we work hard 
to maintain them.  

And so, for the meantime, for all 
of St. Catherine’s and especially 
my dear JV friends: Heather 
Peacock, Alison Watt, Vivian 
McGie, Gordon Lee, and Tony 
Dodd, I’d like to recall the words 
of a song we sang that afternoon 
in March when we entered the 
wilderness: 

Through all my life, let me walk 
with you, Lord. 

Guide me through the good times 
and bad. 

Give me help for the journey, send 
me friends for the road, 

Show me your light when the 
darkness fills my soul. 

And though the way be troubled, 
still I know one day 

We’ll arrive where joy has no end. 

Then the love that sustained us as 
we walked along the road 

Will lift us all to sing Alleluia! 
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We decided, as well, to purchase two 
altar sleeves for the Sanctuary to 
augment our collection and replace 
several altar hangings that have 
become fragile after many years of use. 
The Altar Guild is pleased that the 
beautiful wood used to build our altar 
can be shown off now! Although the 
sleeves give the altar a fresh, new look, 
regular linens continue to be used to 
prepare the altar for the Eucharist. We 
will continue to showcase our altar for 
services in the most creative, 

meaningful way possible for our congregation. 
 
 As is echoed by everyone at this time, all of the Altar Guild members are very much looking 
forward to the time when we can worship together again. 
 

Service Volunteers  
Linda Robertson & Natasha Stegemann 

Many people participate on a regular scheduled basis in our two Sunday services.  They include 
Altar Guild, readers and intercessors, greeters and sides people, Eucharistic administrators, 
collection plate counters and those who come in early to prepare for our coffee hour.   

There are of course, others especially Siiri, the choirs and musicians and Susanna Valente on 
our sound board. This year when we moved online to pre-record or stream our services, we 
were grateful to have Gordon Lee (assisted by Armin) to operate the computer and camera.  
There are separate reports for these important roles.  

When we were able to meet in person, some of our sides people became marshals to make 
sure everyone entering the church was kept safe.  We had many new people join us as marshals 
to do this important work.  

Last year, Rev Sharon, Suanne Stockdill and Natasha developed a common format and process 
for documenting the schedules of all these people each week.   

Due to COVID many people could not come into the church after March 2020. We are grateful 
to those who either recorded their prayers or readings in addition to those who came into the 
church to be part of our live-streamed services.  
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We are grateful to Natasha who had to juggle the rota to replace participants who could no 
longer volunteer and who contacted many individuals each week to arrange for them to be 
recorded. 

We have approximately 18 Readers and 19 Alternates.  At the end of 2020, we had 8 
Intercessors but will need at least 2 more in 2021 to replace those who due to COVID and other 
responsibilities will not be continuing.  

Liturgical Arts Report  
Nancy Sunderland & Deborah Foster 

The riggings for the liturgical arts hangings have proven to be an obstacle more than once this 
year.  The cords were twisted and tangled so badly that it was necessary to bring in the longest 
ladder to fix them, putting people at risk of falling.  I want to thank the Karate group who came 
to help, Nairn Grundy and his family, Evan 
Jennings, Chris Wensley, John Luccock and Phil 
Sunderland for their willingness and perseverance.  
In light of this situation, I/we are exploring some 
other options that will be more user friendly. 

----- 

In conversation with Rev Sharon Smith, Nancy 
Sunderland, and Heather Luccock, we decided to 
work with Stations of the Cross as our Good Friday 
Liturgy and Reflection for Holy Week 2020.  I 
suggested that, rather than traditional pictures of the Stations, we instead ask members of St. 
Catherine’s faith community to share their art for each of the 14 stations. We listed the Stations 
and a brief scripture to go with them, and invited folks to sign up for the station of their choice. 

We envisioned how we would place the art pieces throughout 
the church, including large posters ordered online by Rev. 
Sharon for children (of all ages) to colour. And then COVID-19 
appeared and all in person services were cancelled. What St. 
Catherine’s did to address that challenged was quite 
wonderful. We continued with our project, but instead 
requested our artists photograph their art and email the 
photos to the church office. With the technical wizardry of 
Natasha, our church admin., and Rev Sharon, and Susana 
Valente we had instead a virtual Stations. Deborah Foster, 
with support from Rev. Sharon, prepared a liturgy using 
prayers written by Deborah and also by Padraig O’Tuama 
(Daily Prayer with the Corrymeela Community) for an online 
service. This was a learning process for all involved, and I think 
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we felt it to be a success.  St. Catherine’s Youtube channel showed the service; it was viewed 
from beyond our own community borders, including eliciting a beautiful poem from a Haiku 
poet in Vancouver. Thanks to all who so generously participated in creating this communal 
liturgical art and liturgy. 

Livestream  
Gordon Lee 

In March 2020, the church was completely closed because of the Covid-19 Pandemic. The 
Diocese responded to this challenge by providing a Zoom license to all parishes. (It also, paid 
our Vicar’s salary for 3 months and eliminated payments of our Diocesan assessment during 
this period. 

With the total church closure, St. Catherine’s began to offer its services on Zoom. Initially, this 
was accomplished using Rev. Sharon’s laptop computer. Service music was pre-recorded by Siiri 
Rebane, and Susana Valente edited the services for Sunday viewing.  

In June, the Diocese permitted parishes to have a limited number of people in the church, and 
St. Catherine’s began livestreaming its services over Zoom. We started having live instead of 
pre-recorded music in church, while Sharon and the readers and intercessors were in the 
Chapel.  We hired Anna Boltenko to manage the Zoom livestream services. Live music over 
Zoom was a challenge, as the software was not designed for this purpose. 

In September, when parishioners were allowed into the church for in-person worship, we 
started doing livestreaming with cameras and sound. Also, we began livestreaming directly to 
YouTube, and this solved the problems we had experienced with music over Zoom. Through the 
fall, we have learned how to improve the quality our livestream services. This included 
incorporating videos, adding the service bulletin to the livestream feed, and using multiple 
cameras more effectively during the service. Armin and Gordon operated the cameras and 
livestream computer, while Susana Valente ran the audio. Two of the most watched services 
were Christmas Eve (242 views), and Alison’s and Julie’s December wedding (286 views).  

 When the Diocese suspended in-person worship 
in November, we continued to livestream St. 
Catherine’s services. 

In late December, with financial support from the 
Diocese, St. Catherine’s purchased equipment for 
livestreaming. This included a computer, a tripod, 
iPhone mounts, and cables. Prior to this, we had 
used Gordon Lee’s personal equipment. Gordon 
also donated a computer monitor, keyboard, 
mouse and video tripod to complete St. 
Catherine’s livestreaming equipment.  
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